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In addition, Russian livestock, destroyed by starving peasants, suffered a set• 
back from which, according to Khrushchev, the nation has not yet recovered. 

The violence and brutality of what Stalin (and Khrushchev) called "the era 
of socialist construction" !loon repelled many Communist party members pre­
vioualy loyal to Stalin, and by 1934 the dictator no longer had a majority in 
his own party. Stalin, however, succeeded in having the o osition _kader, 
Sergei Kirov, murdered and ,&iereupon crushed resistance in the Party by 
mass terror. The Great Pur es of 1936-38, known popularly as the YezhotJ. 
llu:hina ( after "NKVD chief Nikolai Y ezhov who conducted them), wioed out 
an entire generation of Communist leaders. Public trials of such Old Bolshe­
viks as Kamenev, Zinoviev, Bukharin and Rykov were marked by astounding 
"confessions" of dastardly crimes; behind the scenes, thousands refused to 
yield to torture and met their deaths in silence. rushchev bere tells of 
several wh ished with on their l!J>s. Not only Lenin's old 
comrades in exile and underground fell; so did hundreds of the very 
leaders who had championed Stalin in the struggles of the Twenties. 
In the Ukraine, for example, the purge claimed such Stalinist stalwarts 
as Vias Chubar, Chairman of the Ukrainian Council of Ministers for a 
decade, and Pavel Postyshev and Stanislav Kossior, the Ukrainian Party 
Secretaries through most of the 1930s. Khrushchev succeeded Kossior. 

The Communist leaders who emerged from the Y ezhovlhchina unscathed 
were those who had stood by Stalin throughout the bloodbath. Among them 
were Andrei Zhdanov and Khru!lhchev, the only two Party Secretaries to 
profit from the purge; Georgi Malenkov, Yezhov's chief aid; Nikolai Bui a­
nin ho took over the Red Army after Stalin had purged it of its best officers; 
and Lazar .. Kaganovicb, who had rewritten the Party statutes to expedite 
Stalin's purge of the Party majority. 

During and after World War II, Zhdanov and Malenkov vied for the role 
of Stalin's sec;;-d-in-command. Zhdanov's death in 1948 led to the purge of 
several of his supporters, including the chief state planner, Nikolai Voznesen­
aky. This purge, known in Russia today as "the Leningrad ca~" boosted the 
cause of Malenkov and of MVD chief La~entl ~ who had succeeded 
Y ezbov in 1938. But at the end of 1952 came the affair of the ;:_doctors' plot," 
which not only shocked the world with its vicious anti- 0 tism hut seemed 
clearly aimed at Beria. Several of the latter's associates in the satellite states, 
notably Czechoslovakia's Rudolf~ had already been executed when 
Stalin suddenly had a stroke and died on March 5~53_._.Malenkov, Beria 
and Vyacbeslav Molotov were the chief speakers at his funeral. 

Amid feverish imprecations against "panic" in the ranks, the new regime 
took over, with Malenkov as Premier, Khrushchev succeeding him within a 
month as Party Secretary, and Beria seemingly in the saddle. The latter 
repudiated the doctors' affair, let the world in on the tortures used to extract 
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confessions, made all eorts of promiaes of new "legality," and began colo­
nizing the Party, the Government and the aatellites with bis supporters. The 
Czech and German workers' uprisings of June 1953, however,.served as pre­
text for his overthrow and execution. Malenkov lingered on, holstered by 
vague promiaes of more consumer goods, until February 1955, when 
Khrushchev nominated Bulganin to succeed him as Premier. 

Most of the Kremlin's moves since the death of Stalin have been attempts 
to streamline and rationalize his paranoid tyranny, to make it operate effi­
ciently in a complex political and economic system ruling a third of the 
world's population. The 20th Party Congreas, first under the new regime and 
only the third such gathering since 1934, was an attempt to legitimize and 
consolidate the "collective leadership," but it took place against a background 
of fierce maneuvering among the collective leaders. On the first day of the 
Moscow Congress, Khrushchev delivered the traditional Secretary's report, 
an all-day address which contained only two non-committal references to 
Stalin. Two days later, bowever,_Anastas Mikoyan, First Deputy Premier and 
veteran trade wizard, rose and denounced Stalin on several COU!!ts; be named 
several Old Bolsheviks who bad "wrong y named" enemies of the people 
by Stalin. Among the hundreds whom be could have mentioned, be singled 
out-purposely, it seemed-teveral from whose deaths Khrushchev pl?SOD• 

ally bad rofited. A week later, in a dramatic, closed two-day aession, 
rushcbev delivered the speech which startled humanity. Not its least inter-

esting aspect is Khrushchev's succession of sl references nn his 
resent associates to Stalin and Beria: Malenkov at Stalin's right band in the 

mi andling of the war, aganoVJcb and Mikoyan "preaent" at the initial 
promotion of Beria, and so on. 

Most significant, however, is the paradoxical dualism that runs through 
Khrushchev's address from start to finish: While Stalin's crimes against his 
Communist associates are vividly spelled out and deplored, bis infinitely 
greater crimes against the Ruwan peop e are app aucled in. the name of 
n-socuillst construction.'' Kliiushchev's "anti-Stalin" speech reaffirms the liaafc 
Stalinist policy line explicitly and implicitly, although now it is affirmed i11 
Lenin's name. 

This line includes a one-party dictatorship dominated by a self-perpetuat­
ing ruling clique at its center, responsible neither to a popular legislature nor 
to freely-chosen party bodies; an economy concentrated on war industry and 
the promotion of international Communist power, to the virtual exclusion of 
citizens' needs for food, clothing and housing; a system of justice still marked 
by kangaroo courts, forced labor on a vast BCale, and secret executioD8; in­
dustry and trade directed from Moscow by Party bureaucrats acting through 
autocratic managers; a working class shorn of basic rights to the redress of 
grievances through collective bargaining or strikes, impoverished pbyaically 
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the potition of Secretary GeneraL The delegatea declared themaelvea in favor 
of retaining Stalin in thil polt, hoping that he would heed the critical remarb 
of Vladimir llyich and would be able to overcome the defecta which caueed 
Lenin eerioua anxiety. 

Comradea I The Party Congreu ahould become acquainted with two new 
~,rocnte, which confirm Stalin's character ae already outlined by Vladimir 
Ilyich Lenin in his "testamenL" These documents are a letter from Nadezhda 
Konatantinovna t:t8y• to [Leo B.] Kamenev, who wae at that time head 
of the Political ureau, and a personal letter from Vladimir llyich Lenin .to 
Stalin. -

-1 will now read these documents: 
"I.Ev BoRJSOVICB 11 

"Because of a abort letter which I had written in words dictated to me by 
Vladimir Ilyich by permission of the doctors, Stalin allowed himself yesterday 
an unuaua11y rude outburst directed at me. This is not my first day in the 
party. During all these 30 years I have never heard from any comrade one 

t. Tbia letaer bu &nt eome to llsht now. It ba1 never before been 
mentioned in the literatureo1uili freld. lt 1heda con1iderable llpt on Stalin'• 
real relationa with Lenin in the la11 montha of the latter'• life. It ahowa that 
Stalin ,tarted bahlns Krup1ka7a, Lenin'• wife, immedlateI, after Lenin 
1u.fFered hit aecond 1troke (December 16, 1922) and 171tematicall1 continued 
doins IO right up to Lenin'• death. 

Lenin at thit time was forbidden b1 his docton to concem himaelf with 
politia or even to read the newapapen. He refwed to abide b7 thia ban, 
and said that not recel'ftnl current Pan, news ditturbed him more than 
rec:eiYinl It. The docton gave in and set up an appropriate readin1 schedule 
for Lenin, bat Stalin continued to conceal from him important information 
about thoae Pan, matten which most troubled him, 1pecUieall1 the nationali­
tiea poliq and the preparations for the 13th Pan, Conpe11. 

i-tn, undentandin1 that 1uch concealment was part of Stalin'• campaign 
to seize power, asked Krupskaya to keep him abreut of everythin1 that was 
happening. In her attempts to obtain thia information, however, Krupakaya 
often encountered rude and even iruultin1 treatment from Stalin, al­
though the latter knew that hi11 behavior wa11 being reported to Lenin, on 
whom it made a -.ery painful impreuion. 

To appraise Stalin'• motivn, one mu11t remember that he po1111etsed 

extraordinary Rlf-reatraint, knew how to conceal hi, true feelinp when 
neceuary, and could ■kilfally play whatever role he had decided to a■■ume. 
If, neverthele■■, Stalin wa1 rude toward Krupskaya, knowin1 that this upset 
Lenin and might bring on another 1troke, he did IIO deliberately. 

Since the fall of 1922, before Lenin'• second llroke, the latter', relations 
with Stalin had become IIO ,trained that Stalin well knew that Lenin', 
recoYery and return to actiYe work would mean the end of Stalin'• hi1h-level 
political career-.omethlns Stalin wR1 not prepared to tolerate. Stalin could 
have behaved toward Krupskaya the way he did in the period between Lenin'• 
second and third 1troke1 (December 16, 1922 to March 9, 1923) onl7 if he 
bad comciomly reeolved to employ this method of baatenin1 Lenin', death. 

SlO 

d f llyich are not less dear to 
d The business of the party an o f eelf-controL What one 

word of ru ;i1~ 1 need at present the~= 
0 

better than any doctor, 
me than to ta t diacuss with 1ly1cb 1 ow t, in any case 1 
can and what one ~i:akea him nervous and whatGd~ryno[E. Zinoviev] a, 
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two and a half month&, 1ll 

following letter•: 
"To CoMBADE STALIN: D ZfflOVJEV. 
"COPIES FOR: ICAMENEV AN d 
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her. I have no intention to forget so easily that which ia being done against 
me, and I need not stress here that I consider as directed against me that 
which is being done against my wife. I ask you, therefore, that you weigh 
carefully whether you are agreeable to retracting your words and apologizing 
or whether you prefer the severance of relations between us. 
- "SINCERELY: LENIN 
"MARCH 5, 1923" 

(Commotion in the hall.) 
Comrades! I will not comment on these documents. They speak eloquently 

for themselves. Since Stalin could behave in this manner during Lenin's life, 
could thus behave toward N adezhda Konstantinovna Krupskaya-whom the 
party knows well and values highly as a loyal friend of Lenin and as an active 
fighter for the cause of the party since its creation-we can easily imagine how 
Stalin treated other people. These negative characteristics of his developed 
steadily and during the last years acquired an absolutely insufferable char, 
acter. 

As later events have proven, Lenin's anxiety was justified: In the first period 
after Lenin's death, Stalin still paid attention to his advice, but later he began 
to disregard the serious admonitions of Vladimir llyich. 

When we analyze the practice of Stalin in regard to the direction of the 
party and of the country, when we pause to consider everything which Stalin 
perpetrated, we must be convinced that Lenin's fears were justified. The nega­
tive characteristics of Stalin, which, in Lenin's time, were only incipient, 
transformed themselves during the last years into a grave abuse of power 
by Stalin, which caused untold harm to our party. 

Party of the Soviet Union. 11us explains the extreme aptatlon felt hy Lenin, 
who in this period was particularly insistent on receivins all information, 
However, Stalin announced that he was 1uJFerins from an attack of nervea 
and left M01COw; without him, the Central Committee Secretariat could pve 
out no information, Lenin succeeded in ohtainins Stalin'• telephone number 
in the country, hut when Krupskaya called him he .. berated her in the most 
brutal fashion and the most extreme lansuage," (The quotation i1 from 
S. Dmi ri,:nski, who durin1 thoee yean was daeLJo S&alin'1 I 
~rial and therefore slves a 1enerally pro-Stalin venion of events, even 
thou,h he wrote this in emilJl"lltion, when he had become an avowed (ud,t.) 

Stalin, of coune, realized that Krupskaya could not conceal thi, incident 
from Lenin. It wa1 under its immediate impact that Lenin wrote the letter 
to Stalin whose complete text is now published hf Khrushchev. Immediately 
afterward, Lenin dictated a short letter to Trotsky, a1kins him to allUIDf) 
the defense ol "the Georgian came" in the Party Central Committee, and 
he told his secretaries that he wa, "prepariq a bombshell for Stalin at the 
Coop-ea." However, he was never ahle to explode it; 1hortly afterward, he 
fainted, his condition deteriorated durin1 the nipt, and then came the third 
1troke. Stalin'• calculations had proved correct1 The a1itation which he had 
deliberately provoked had incapacitated Lenin and cleared Stalin's path to 
dictafonhip over the Party, 
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We have to consider aeriously and analyze correctly this matter in order 
that we may preclude any possibility of a repetition in any form whatever of 
what took place during the life of Stalin, who absolutely did not tolerate 
collegiality in leadership and in work, and who practiced brutal violence, ~ot 
only toward everything which opposed him, but also toward that which 
eeemed, to his capricious and despotic character, contrary to his concepts. 

Stalin acted not through persuasion, explanation and patient cooperation 
with people, but by imposing his concepts and demanding absolute submiaaion 
to his opinion. Whoever opposed this concept or tried to prove his vi~int 
and the correctness of his position was doomed to removal from the leading 
collective and to subsequent moral and physical annihilation. Thia was espe­
cially true during the period following the 17th Party Congress, when _many 
prominent party leaders and rank-and-file party worken, honest and dedicated 
to the cause of Communism, fell victim to Stalin's despotism. 

We must affirm that the party had fought a serious fight !lPiDst the Trnt,u:y­
ites, rightists and bourgeois nationalists, and that it disarmed ideologicall_y all 
the enemies of Leninism~ .'.!Jiia ideological fight was carried on succeafully, ~ 
a result of which the party became strengthened and tempered. Here Stalin 
played a positive role. 

, The party led a great political-ideological struggle against those in its own 
ranks who proposed anti-Leninist theses, who repreaented a political line 
hostile to the party and to the cause of socialism. This was a stubborn and a 
diflicult fight but a necessary one, because the litical fute of both the 
Trotskyite-Zinovievite bloc and of the Bukharmites actually toward the 
restoration of capitalism and capitulation to the world bourgeoisie. Let us 
consi er or a moment what would have happened if in 1928-1929 the political 
line of right deviation had prevailed among us, or orientation toward "cotton­
dress industrialization," or toward the kulak, etc. We would not now have a 
powerful heavy industry, we would not have the kolkhozei, we would find our­
selves disarmed and weak in a capitalist encirclemenL 

It was for this reason that the party led an inexorahle ideological fight and 
explained to all party members and to the non-party masses the harm and the 
danger of the anti-Leninist proposals of the Trotskyite opposition and the 
rightist opportunists. And this great work of explaining the party line bore 
fruit; both the Trotskyites and the rightist opportunists were politically iso­
lated; the overwhelming party majority supported the Leninist line and the 
party was able to awaken and organize the working masses to apply the Len-
inist party line and to build socialism. . 

Worth noting is the fact that, even during the progress of the furious 
ideological fight against the Trotskyites, the Zinovievites, the Bukharinites and 
others, extreme repressive measures were not used aZJtin~t ~The fight was 
on ideological grounas. But some ~ears later, when socialism ID our country 
was fundamentally constructed, w en the eSloiting classes were ~y 
Ii uidated, when the Soviet socia\ structure ad radically changed, when the 
social basis for political movements and groups hostile to the party had 
violently contracted, !!hen the ideological opponents of the party were long 
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since defeated politically-th~ the re_preuion directed against them began. 
It was preciaely during this period (1935-1937-1938) that the practice of 

mass rcpreuion through the Government apparatus was born. first against 
the enemies of Leniniam-Trotskyites, Zinovievites, Bukharinites, long since 
politically defeated by the party-and subsequently also against many honest 
Communiats, against those party cadres who had borne the heavy load of the 
Civil War and the first and most difficult years of industrialisation and col­
lectivization, who actively fought against the Trotskyites and the rightists for 
the Leninist party line. 

Stalin originated tho concept "enemy of the !;jple." This term automati­
cally rendered it unnecessary that the ideologi errors of a man or men 
engaged in a controveny be proven; this term made possible the usage of the 
most cruel rcpre911ion, violating all norms of revolutionary legality, against 
anyone who in any way disagreed with Stalin, against those who were only sus­
pected of hostile intent, against those who had bad reputations. This concept 
"enemy of the people" actually eliminated the possibility of any kind of ideo­
logical fight or the making of one's views known on this or that issue. even 
those of a practical character. In the main, and in actuality, the only proof of 
guilt Wied, against all norms of current legal science, was the "confession" of 
the accWled himself; and, as subsequent probing proved, "confessions" were 
~throuiJi physical preuurea- asainst Jbe accused 1liis led to glaring 
violations of revolutionary legality and to the fact that many entirely innocent 
persons, who in the past had defended the party line, became victims. 

We must assert that, in rep;ard to those persons who in their time had 
opposed the party line, there were often no sufficiently serious reasons for their 
physical annihilation. The formula "enemy of the people" was specifically 
introduced for the purpose of physically annihilating such individuals. 

It is a fact that many persons who were later annihilated as enemies of the 
party and people bad worked with Lenin during his life. Some of these per­
sons had made erron during Lenin's life, but, despite this, Lenin benefited 
by their work; he corrected them and he did everything possible to retain 
them in the ranks of the party; he induced them to follow him. 

In this connection the delegates to the Party Congress should familiarize 
themselves with an unpublished note by V. I. Lenin directed to the Central 
Committee's Political Bureau in October 1920. Outlining the duties of the 
Control Commission, Lenin wrote that the commission should be transformed 
into a real "organ of party and proletarian conscience." 

"As a special duty of the Control Commission there is recommended a deep, 
individualised relationship with, and sometimes even a type of therapy for, the 
repreeentativea of the BO-called opposition-those who have experienced a 
psychological crim because of failure in their Soviet or party career. An 
effort should be made to quiet them, to explain the matter to them in a way 
used among comrades, t~ find for them ( avoiding the method of issuing 
orders) a task for which they are psychologically fitted. Advice and rules 
relating to thls matter are to be formulated hy the Central Committee's 
Organizational Bureau, etc." 
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18 ~y published in the Menshevik newspaper, N01H1ya Zhizn, a statement 
declanng that the Bolsheviks were making preparations for an uprising and 
that they considered it adventuristic. Kamenev and Zinori.c,v thus_disclosed 
to the enemr ~e decision of the Central Committee to stage the uprising, and 
that the uprwng had been organized to take place within the very near future. 

This was treason against the party and against the Revolution. In this con­
nection, V. I. Lenin wrote: "Kamenev and Zinoviev revealed the decision of 
the Central Committee of their party on the armed uprising to Ro~<t_ and 
Kerens9• • • • " He put before the Central Committee the ~estion of Zino­
VIev's and Kamenev's expulaion from the party. 

However, after the Great Socialist October Revolution as is known Zino-
• d K ' ' ~ev ~ amenev ~ere given leading positions. Lenin put them in positions 

m _whi~ they earned out m~st responsible party tasks and participated 
actively m the work of the leadmg party and Soviet organs. It is known that 
Zin~v!ev. and K~enev conm,i!tted .a number of other serious errors during 
Lenin s life. In his "testament Lenm warned that "Zinoviev's and Kamenev's 
October episode was of course not an accident." But Lenin did not pose the 
question of their arrest and certainly not their shooting. 

Or, !et u~ take the example of the Trotskyites. At present, after a sufficiently 
long h1stoncal period, we can speak about th,e fight with the, TrolekJites with 
complete calm and can analyze this matter with sufficient objectivity. After 
all, around Trotsky were people whose origin cannot by any means be traced 
to bourgeois society. Part of them belonged to the party intelligentsia and a 
~~?1 part were. rec~it~ fro~ .among the workers. We can name many 
md1v1duals who, m their lime, Jomed the Trotskyites; however, these same 
individuals took an active part in the workers' movement before the Revolu­
tion, during the Socialist October ·Revolution itself, and also in the consolida­
tion of the victory of this greatest of revolutions. Many of them broke with 
Trotskyism and returned to Leninist positions. Was it necessary to annihilate 
such people? We are deeply CODlUlced that, had Lenin lived, such an extreme 
method would not have been used against any of them. 
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Committee, at a meetinl' on Odoher 16, confirmed it. deci1ion to eta«e an 
lnaarreetion, Kamenev on Odober 18 publi11hed an article in hie own and 
Zinoriev'1 name in the new11paper Nm,ay• Zlaina, in which he arped that 
an lmurrectlon would be a sr■ft ml11take. Nm,aya Zlaun waa a dally which 
appeared in 1917-18 under the editonhip or Maxim Gorky and a number 
or recent leadin« &pres in the Bol,hevik party who had diaap-eed with 
Lenin'• policy or Immediate IIOCiali11t revolution. 

5. Mikhail V. Rodayanko (1859-1924), President or the Third and Fourth 
Damu, and a leader In the democratic February Revolution. He played a 
prominent role In le. fint days, hat later vani11hed completely from the 
political ecene. Lenin and other Bol11hevik11 concocted a completely Cabe 
ltory that he had in11pired behind-the-scen.,_ reactionary forces which influ­
enced the poUci.,. or the Provi11lonal Government in 1917. 

6. Alexander F. Kerenaky (bom 1881) waa President or the Provillonal 
Goftl'IUDellt from July to Odober 1917. 

Such are only a few historical facta. But can it be said that Lenin did not 
decide to use even the most severe means against enemies of the Revolution 
when this was actually necessary? No; no one can say this. Vladimir llyich 
demanded uncompromising dealings with the enemies of the Revolution and 
of the working class and when necessary resorted ruthlessly to such methods. 
You will recall only V. I. Lenin's fight with the Socialist Revolutionary organ• 
izers of the anti-Soviet uprising 7, with the counterrevolutionary kulaks in 
1918 and with others, when Lenin without hesitation used the most extreme 
methods against the enemies. Lenin used such methods, however, only against 
actual class enemies and not against those who blunder, who err, and whom 
it was possible to lead through ideological influence and even retain in the 
leadership. Lenin uaed severe methods only in the most necessary caaes, when 
the exploiting classes were still in existence and were vigorously opposing the 
Revolution, when the struggle for survival was decidedly auuming the sharp­
est forms, even including a civil war. 

Stalin, on the other hand, used extreme methods and mass re ressions at a 
time when the Revolution was .aheady victorious, w en the Soviet state was 
strengthen , w en t e exploiting clasees wer~eady liquidated and socialist 
relations were rooted solidly in all phases of national economy, when our 
party was politically consolidated and had strengthened itself both numeri­
cally and ideologically. 

It is clear that here Stalin showed in a whole series of cases his intolerance, 
his brutality and his abw,e of power. Instead of proving his political correct­
ness and mobilizing the masses, he often chose the path of repression and 
physical annihilation, not only against actual enemies, but also against indi­
viduals who had not committed any crimes against the party and the Soviet 
GovemmenL Here we see no wisdom but only a demonstration of the brutal 
force which had once so alarmed V. I. Lenin. 

Lately, especially after the unmasking of the Beria gang, the Central Com­
mittee looked into a series of matters fabricated by this gang'. This revealed 

7. The SociaU.t Revolutionary party, formally orpnir.ed in 1902, repre­
eented the populi1t wins or the RDlllian aociali1t movement. It aimed at 
indadin« in the eociali1t moftment the R-ian peasante, amon« whom the 
SociaU.t Revolutlonari.,_ had carried on large-scale work from the 1890. on. 
The SociaU.t Revolationariea enjoyed .,_pecially ,reat influence amon1 the 
peaaanb and thoae eectlom or the intelligenteia which ~ere linked with the 
peaaantry (teachers, leaden or cooperatlv.,_, docton, ete.). In the November 
1917 election• to the All-Ruuiu Con11titaen ANemhlr, tla!' Sori•ll•t Re:tola­
tt a dear majority. After the Bolaheviks had forcibly duaolved 

'the Constituent Aaaemhly and ended the war with Germany, the Socialilt 
Revolutionariea orpnized a number or popul~n_.,. qairut Communl11t 
dictatonhip startin« in the1prin1 orT918 (in Arcbansel, on the Volp, in 
Siberia, and elaewhere). 

8. Thi, 11tatement by Khru1hchev i11 not qaite true: ln?e&tlgatlon or Stalin'• 
terrori1t acte In the la1t period of hi11 life wa, initiated by Beria. On April 4, 
1953, Beria announced the releaae or all thoee arreated in the so-called 

117 



a very ugly picture of brutal willfulness connected with the incorrect behavior 
of Stalin. Aa facts prove, Stalin, using his unlimited power, allowed himself 
many abuaea, acting in the name of the Central Committee, not asking for the 
opinion of the Committee members nor even of the members of the Central 
Committee's Political Bureau; often he did not inform them about his per• 
sonal decisions concerning very important party and government matters. 

Considering the question of the cult of an individual, we must first of all 
show everyone what harm this caused to the interests of our party. 

Vladimir llyich Lenin had always stressed the party's role and significance 
1n the direction of the socialist government of workers and peasants· he saw 
in this the chief precondition for a successful building of sociali~ in our 
country. Pointing to the great responsibility of the Bolshevik party, as ruling 
party of the Soviet state, Lenin called for the most meticulous obsenance of 
all norms of party life; he called for the realization of the principles of 
collegiality in the direction of the party and the state. 

Collegiality of leadership flows from the very nature of our party, a party 
built on the principles of democratic centralism. ''This means," said Lenin 
"that all party matters are accomplished by all party member&--directly o; 
through representativea-who, without any exceptions, are subject to the same 
rules; in addition, all administrative members, all directing collegia, all hold­
ers of party positions are elective, they must account for their activities and 
are recallable." 

It is known that Lenin himself offered an example of the most careful ob­
servance of these principles. There was no matter so important that Lenin 
himself decided it without asking for advice and approval of the majority of 
the Central Committee members or of the members of the Central Committee's 
Political Bureau. In the most difficult period for our party and our country 
Lenin considered it necessary regularly to convoke congresses, party confer: 
ences and plenary sessions of the Central Committee at which all the most 
important questions were discussed and where resolutions, carefully worked 
out by the collective of leaders, were approved. 

We can recall, for an example, the year 1918 when the country was threat­
ened by the attack of the imperialistic intenentionists. In this situation the 
7th Party Congress was convened in order to discuss a vitally important mat­
t~r. which could not be postponed-the matter of peace. In 1919, while the 
cml war was raging, the 8th Party Congress convened which adopted a new 
party program, decided such important matters as the relationship with the 
peasant masses, the organization of the Red Army, the leading role of the 
party in the work of the soviets, the correction of the social composition of 

"docton' plot" and the commitment for trial or thoee who fabricated It, led 
b:, Deputy Minister or State Security R:,umln, who waa armed of 1o,1grlns 
the ri-.en (the fint time such an att11u"ifcm had been made opmal:, 
asaiml functionaries or the MGB). lhmehdie,,, who now deplete himeelC u 
hamis well-nish initiated the probe or Stalin'• torture chamben, aetuall:, 
~ to block it Ip •bwn• men•h• tllu.S:alin~th. 
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the party, and other matters. In 1920 the 9th Party Congress was convened 
which laid down guiding principles pertaining to the party's work in the 
aphere of economic construction. In 1921 the 10th Party Congress accepted 
Lenin's New Economic Policy and the historical resolution called "About 
Party Unity." 

During Lenin's life, party congresses were convened regularly; always, 
when a radical turn in the development of the party and the country took 
place, Lenin considered it absolutely necessary that the party discll88 at length 
all the basic matten pertaining to internal and foreign policy and to question• 
bearing on the development of party and governmenL 

It is very characteristic that Lenin addressed to the Party Congress as the 
highest party organ his last articles, fetters and remarks•. During the period 
between congresses, ilie Central Committee of the party, acting as the most 
authoritative leading collective, meticulously obsened the principles of the 
party and carried out its policy. 

So it was during Lenin's life. Were our party's holy Leninist principles 
obsened after the death of Vladimir llyich? 

Whereas, during the first few years after Lenin's death, party congresses 
and Central Committee plenums took place more or less regularly, later, when 
Stalin began increasingly to abuse his power, these principles were brutally 
violated. This was especially evident during the last 15 years of his life. Was 
it a normal situation when over 13 years elapsed between the 18th and 19th 
Party Congresses, years during which our party and our country had experi­
enced so many important events? These events demanded categorically that 
the party should have passed resolutions pertaining to the country's defense 
during the Patriotic War [World War II] and to peacetime construction after 
the war. Even after the end of the war a Congress was not convened for over 
seven years. Central Committee plenums were hardly ever called. It should be 
sufficient to mention that during all the years of the Patriotic War !Ot a aing!e 
Central Committee plenum took plag;.10 It is true that there was an attempt to 

'call a Central Committee plenum in October 1941, when Central Committee 

9, It was, of coune, .er:, characteristic of Lenin that he addreeeed hie 
last artldee, letten and notes to the Congrese; but it le even more character­
istic of the methods employed b:, the Communist dictatorship that theee 
docum-s, am atiJI nnpubliahed today under Khrushchev. 

---ro.ii one were to trust official Soviet aoUttea, this statement b:, Khrushchev 
would not be true: Accord.ins to the collection, Tlae Communua P"1'17 o/ alae 
Sor,iec Vnion in alae Raolwioru and Deeuioru o/ eon.r-,.., (;on/..,,._ 
and Central Commitlee Plenu,,.. (published b:, the Man:-Ensele-Lenin-Stalin 
Institute or the Part:, Central Committee in 1954), one Central Committee 
plenum was held duriq the war (Jan-r:, 27, 1944), when it was decided 
to sfve the various Union Republics the risht to hawi their own Corelp 
ministries and it was also decided to replace the lnlernalionale h:, the new 
Soviet national anthem. But it le like) tha ~hc-Jiey ie s;orreeL that lhe,e 
waa no C-•nl Committee p_lenum in 1944 and a _!,:,rd w■e pasp••••• r 
The plenum wu announced as bavins ~hhoup it never had, 
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members from the whole country were called to Moscow. They waited two days 
for the opening of the plenum, but in vain. Stalin did not even want to meet 
and talk to the Central Committee members. This fact shows how demoralized 
Stalin was in the first months of the war and how haughtily and disdainfully 
he treated the Central Committee members. 

In practice, Stalin ignored the norms of party life and trampled on the 
Leninist principle of collective party leadership. 

Stalin's willfulness vis-a-vis the party and its Central Committee became 
fully evident after the 17th Party Congres, which lcok piece io 1.9M. 

Having at its disposal numerous data showing brutal willfulness toward 
party cadres, the Central Committee has created a party commission under 
the control of the Central Committee Presidium; it was charged with inves­
tigating what made possible the mass repressions against the majority of the 
Central Committee members and candidates elected at the 17th Congress of 
the All-Union Communist Party (Bolsheviks). 

The commission has become acquainted with a large quantity of materials 
in the NKVD archives and with other documents and has established many 
facls pertaining to the Tabrication of cases aainn Communists, to false accu­
sations, to glaring abuses of socialist Tegality, which resulted in the death of 
innocent people. It became apparent that many party, Soviet and economic 
activists, who were branded in 1937-1938 as "enemies," were actually never 
enemies, spies, wreckers, etc., but were always honest Communists; they were 
only so stigmatized and, often, no longer able to bear barbaric tortures, they 
charged themselves (at the order of the investigative JU ges-fals ers with 
all kinds of grave and unlikely crimes. 

The commission has presented to the Central Committee Presidium leng_thy 
and documented materials pertaining to mass repressions against the delegates 
to the 17th Party Congress and against members of the Central Committee 
elected at that Congress. These materials have been studied by the Presidium 
of the Central Committee. 

It was determined that of the 139 members and J::11Ddidaleuli .thc.~s 
Central Committee wJw..were~~at the )1th CO!lgl"ess, 98persons, i.~ 
Er cent, were arrested and shot (mostly in 1937-1938). {Indignation in the 
all.) What was the composition of the delegates to the 17th Congress? It is 

known that 80 ~r cent of the voting participgpts of •he 17th Con&7{lAA joined 
the party durittgthe years o conspiracy before the Revolution and during the 
civil war; this means before 192}. By social origin the basic mass of the dele­
gates to the Congress were workers (60 per cent of the voting members). 

For this reason, it was inconceivable that a congress so compoeed would 
have elected a Central Committee a majority of whom would prove to be 
enemies of the party. The only reason why 70 per cent of Central Committee 
members and candidates elected at the 17th Congress were branded as enemies 
of the party and of the people was because honest Communists were slan­
dered, accusations against them were fabricated, and revolutionary legalitv 
was gravely undermined. 
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e fate met not only the Central Committee members but alao the 
ma~j=on=:-.ty=o"=f the dele ates to the 17th ~ ~- Of 1,966 dQ}~tes with 
either voting or acfV1SOry righ~ li..108 persons were arrested on charges of 
anti-revolutionary crimes, i.e., decidedly more than a majority. This very fact 
shows how absurd, wild and contrary to common sense were the charges of 
couoterrevolutionary crimes made out, as we now see, against a majority of 
participants at the 17th Party Congress. ( Indignation in the hall.) 

We should recall that the 17th Party Congress is historically known as the 
Congress of Victors. Delegates to the Congress were active participants in the 
building of our socialist state; many of them suffered and fought for party 
interests during the pre-Revolutionary years in the conspiracy and at the civil­
war fronts; they fought their enemies valiantly and often nervelessly looked 
into the face of death. 

How, then, can we believe that such people could prove to be ''two-faced" 
and had joined the camps of the enemies of socialism during the era after the 
political liquidation of Zinovievites, Trotskyites and rightists and after the 
great accomplishments of socialist construction? This was the result of the ab­
use of power by Stalin, who began to use mass terror against the party cadres. 

What is the reason that mass repressions against activists increased more 
and more after the 17th Party Congress? It was because at that time Stalin 
had so elevated himself above the party and above the nation that he ceased 
to consider either the Central Committee or the party. 

While he still reckoned with the opinion of the collective before the 17th 
Congress, after the complete political liquidation of the Trotskyites, Zinovie­
vites and Bukharinites, when as a result of that fight and socialist victories 
the party achieved unity, Stalin ceased to an ever greater degree to consider 
the members of the party's Central Committee and even the members of the 
Political Bureau. Stalin thought that now he could decide all things alone 
ind all Le needed were statisticians; he treated all others in such a way that 
they could only listen to and praise him. 

After the criminal murder of Sergei M. Kirov, mass repressions and brutal 
acts of violation of socialist legality began. On the evening of December 1, 
1934 on Stalin's initiative (without the approval of the Political Bureau­
which was passed two days later, casually), the Secretary of the Presidium of 
the Central Executive Committee, Y enukidze11 , signed the following directive: 

11. Abel S. Yenukidze (1877-1937), then Secretary of the Presidium of 
the Central Executive Committee, wa11 in this imtance no more than a 
tran1mitter of orden and, in accordance with prevailing Soviet fonm, bad 
no choice but to puhli1h directi¥ee drawn up by Stalin. 'The "directives" 
the1111elvea, whieh played a great role in the entire ten-ori1t aetivity of the 
Soviet dietatonhip in the ensuing deeade1 (they were wed even after Stalin'• 
death), were worked out in Stalin'• BeCretariat-nd obviously in ad-, 
to be put into operation at the m011t opportune moment. 'Their real author 
la rumored to have been Andrei Y. Viahimky, who soon afterward beeame 
Chier Proeeeutor or the Soviet Union and w .. one. or the main Ol'pllD,erl 
or the "l' _,._,,.china.,, 
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Mass repressions grew tremendoualy from the end of 1936 after a tele­
gram from Stalin and [Andrei] Zhdanov, dated from S~ 25, 
1936, was addressed to KaggoJie. Molotov and other members of the 
Political Bureau. The content of the ~egram was as follows: 
~ "Wedeem it absolutely necessary and urgent that Comrade Y ezhov be 
nominated to the post of People's Commissar for Internal AffairS:- Yagoda 
has definitely proved himself to be incapable of unmasking the Trotskyite­
Zinovievite bloc. The OGPU is four years behind in this matter. This is 
noted by all party workers and by the ma]orny of the representatives of the 
NKvn.1an 

Strictly speaking, we should stress that Stalin did not meet with and, there­
fore, could not bow the opinion of party workers. 

This Stalinist formulation that the "NKVD is four years behind" in apply­
ing mass repression and that there is a necessity for "catching up" with the 
neglected work directly pushed the NKVD workers on the path of mass ar­
rests and executions. 

We should state that this formulation was also forced on the February­
March plenary session of the Central Committee of the All-Union Communist 
Party (Bolsheviks) in 1937. The plenary resolution approved it on the 
basis of Yezhov's report, ''Lessons flowing from the harmful activity, dive:r­
sion and espionage of the Japanese-German-Trotskyite agents," stating: 

"The plenum of the Central Committee of the All-Union Communist Party 
(Bolsheviks) considers that all facts revealed during the investigation inlto 
the matter of an anti-Soviet Trotskyite center and of its followers in tlb.e 
provinces show that the People's Commissariat of Internal Affairs has 

chief of the Leninsrad NKVD, hie aui11tant11 I. F. Zaporosheu and F. T. 
Fomin, and a number of other NKVD functionaries. It found them pillty 
in that, "'poaeuins information about the projected attempt on Comrade 
S. M. K.irOY, they displayed not only a carelesa attitude bot mminal nqllpnce 
toward the main requirementa or state aecurity, not takins the neceua.ry 
meaaurea or protection." The derendanlll all received 2-3 yean in a ooncelD­
tration camp (except for one, M. K. Baltaevich, who received ten yea,rs 
inasmuch a11 hie official duties related directly to cases lnvolvins terrorisnn). 
Sent to Kolyma, they all obtained high poslll in the administration of tlhe 
camp11, but in 1937 all except Zaporozheta were brousfit back to Lenlnpad 
and 11h01. Zaporozheta, who headed the road-buildins section at Kolyn,a, 
paued through the Yezhov period un8C8thed. 

IS. Thia telqram ill an exceptionally important document, ehowlns th1at 
Stalin felt that ma1111 repreuione within the Communi8l party were four ye.11r11 
overdue--that la, they should~ in 1932, when Stalin fint demand,ed 
mi:ecution or members of the opposition group headed by Ryutin, Gorelov 8111d 
othen but w&11 defeated both in the Poliablll'O and at the Central Committee 
plenum which met from September 28 to October 2, 1932. On Stalin's 
demand, Henry Yasoda wH removed from the post or People's Commiuar 
for Intemal Afl'ain and. on September 26, 1936, replaced by Nikolai I. 
Yezbov. 
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fallen behind at leaat four year■ in the attempt to unmuk these molt inex­
orable enemies of the people.11 

1:he ma11 repreaaions at this time were made under the slogan of a fight 
agamlt the Trotuyitee. Did the Trotekyitee at this time actually constitute 
such a danger to our party and to the Soviet state? We should recall that in 
1927, on the eve of the 15th Party Congress, only some 4,000 votes were cast 
for the Trotakyite-Zinovievite opposition while there were 724,000 for the 
party line. During the 10 years which pallCd between the 15th Party Con• 
gre11 and the February-March Central Committee plenum, Trotekyism was 
c?mpletely disarmed; many former Trotekyitee had changed their former 
VIews and worked in the various sectors building socialism. It is clear that 
in the situation of socialist victory there was no basis for mass terror in 
the country. 
" Sta~n•s ~ort at the February-March Central Committee plenum in 1937, 
Defictenc1ea of party work and methods for the liquidation of the Trotskyitea 

and of other two-facers," contained an attempt at theoretical justification of 
the mass terror policy under the pretext that as we march forward toward 
socialism clallll war must allegedly sharpen. Stalin asserted that both history 
and Lenin taught him this. 

Actually Lenin taught that the application of revolutionary violence is neces­
sitated by the resistance of the exploiting claseea, and this referred to the era 
when the exploiting clallllCS existed and were powerful As soon as the na­
tion's political situation had improved, when in January 1920 the Red Army 
took Rostov and thus won a most important victory over [White commander 
Anton] Denikin, Lenin instructed [Cheka chief Felix] Dzen:hinsk_r to stop 

16. The eo-called .. ~bruary-Mareh" Central Committee plenum of 1937 
was the longeat of the entire Stalin era. Oflrciii11y, It lasted from February 23 
to March S, but aetually the Politburo and other conferences which preceded 
It had begun l,y about February 10. The official announcement mentioned 
-i,. one reeolution adopted by the plenum--one dealing with Zhdanov'• 
report on the ta1k1 of Party organizations in connection with electione under 
the new Con11titution. In reality, however, the work of the plenum and the 
pre-plenum 1e11ione centered upon Xezhov'1 report on the fint results of 
hie efl'orte to familiarize himeelf with the work of the NKVD, and upon 
Stalin's report, .. Deficiencies in Party work and methods for the liquidation 
of the Tro11kyitee and of other two-facen." Directly related to this report by 
Yezhov and the terrori11t mea111re1 it envieaged i1 the death of Ordzhonikidze 
(February 18), who either wa1 110 harallled by Stalin and Yezhov at e 
committed 111ieide or wa1 poil!Olled on Stalin's orden. The death of 
Ordahonikidze, who was officially pronounced Stalin'• doeest friend, was not 
enough for the dictator: A plan to wipe out all those who failed to 11hare 
hiti ideas was drawn up at the plennm despite the opposition of many of 
the partieipanll. Nikolai u harin and Alexei Rykov, over whom a particu­
larly fiefte debate raged, were expelled from t e arty and turned over to the 
NKVD. Their trial was decided in advance, together with ma■s repressions 
agahut e.eryone whom Yezhov and his agenll decided to label "masked 
enemie■ of the people." 
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mass terror and to tLboli.sh .the. delllh ~- Lenin justified this important 
political move of the Soviet state in the following manner in his report at the 
session of the All-Union Central Executive Committee on February 2. 1920: 

"We were forced t,g use terror because of the terror practiced by the 
Entente, when strong world powers threw their hordes against ua, not avoid­
ing any type of conduct. We would not have lasted two days had we not 
answered these attempts of officers and White Guardists in a merciless fashion; 
this meant the use of terror, but this was forced upon us Ju. the terrorist 
methods of the Entente. 
, '!B~ rv _we attained a decisive yictory, even before the end of the 
war, imm e y after taking ostov, we gav.e llll ~ ~ of the death 
penalty and thus proved that we intend to execute our own program in the 
manner that we promised. We say that the application of violence flows 
out of the decision to smother the exploiters, the big landowners and the 
capitalists; as soon as this was accomplished we gave up the use of all extra­
ordinary methods. We have proved this in practice.17

" 

Stalin deviated from these clear and plain precepts of Lenin. Stalin put 
the party and the NKVD up to the use of mass terror when the exploiting 
classes had been liquidated in our country and when there were no serious 
reasons for the use of extraordinary mass terror. 

This terror was actually directed not at the remnants of the defeated eI• 
ploiting claeaes but against the honest workers of the party and of the Soviet 
state; against them were made lying, slanderous and absurd accusations con­
cerning "two-fai:edness," "espionage," "sabotage," preparation of fictitious 
"plots," etc. 

At the February-March Central Committee plenum in 1937 many mem-

17. Khrushchev's account of the Bolsheviks' abolition of the death 
penalty in January 1920 is altogether incon-ect. The action stemmed from 
Lenin's desire to eaee negotiation, with the Western democracie■• (These 
negotiations had been opened by a Runian cooperative delegation headed 
l,y the well-known cooperative leader Berkenheim.) In realit , the dea h 
penalty wu not llllaUabed aa all. It wa11 fully maintained in the man7 
areae ■ituated near the Civil War fronts ... Moreover. eeyrmJ din before uh­
lication of his order to halt executions, Dzerzhinsh iNued a secret order 
to speed up the Ii 'dation of those who~ the Soviet punitive organs deemed 
it es1ra e to execute. As a result, there were mau e:s:eeutinp• in all the 
Jails in the laa .mlJ'.8.-be(qm_ Jiu:. "aboli ·!-2D-.oL.lhc. death pe1111lty.•• In 
Moscow's Bntyrka prison, the rondemned men learned that the death 
penalty was to be abolished the following clay, and there were frightful 
scenes when the exeeutionen rame for them. Some of them broke away 
and hid in the prison yard in hope of surviving until morning, but they were 
caught and shot. In the general frenzy, a number of persons were 11hot 
whose death eentences had already been l'Ommuted to prison terms. Finally, 

r 
in May 1920, with the of the RD111ian-Polish war, the d enal 
~ officlally res th Dzerzhlm y s o er 1111d Len.in'• speech were 
no ,iiocrley. 
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ben actually questioned the rightneu of the eetabliahed courae regarding 
mass repreuion1 under the pretext of combating "two-facedneu." 

~omrade Po11ty■hev11 moat ably expre■aed these doubts. He eaid: 
I have philosophized that the severe yean of fighting have paued. Party 

members who ha~e lost their backbones have broken down or have joined 
the camp 0£ the enemy; healthy elements have fought for the party. The■e 
were the years of industrialization and collectivization. I never thought it 
pouible that after this severe era had paued Karpov and people like him 
would find themselves in the camp of the enemy. (Karpov was a worker in 
the Ukrainian Central Committee whom Postyahev knew well) And now 
according t~ the testimony, it appean that Karpov was recruited in 1934 b; 
the Troteky1tes. I penonally do not believe that in 1934 an honest party 
member who had trod the long road of unrelenting fight against enemies 
for the part! an~ for socialism would now be in the camp of the enemies. 
I _do not believe 1t.. • • . I cannot imagine how it would be posaible to travel 
~1th the _party durmg the difficult years and then, in 1934, join the Trollky-
1tes. It 11 an odd thing .... " (Movement in the hall.) 

Using Stalin's formulation, namely, that the closer we are to sociali■m 
the more enemies we ... ~ ha.vo, and using e reiioJ'iifion of the Fehruary­
M:arcli entral omm1ttee plenum paesed on the baeis of Y eshov'1 report, the 
pr.01Jocateurs who. had infiltrated the state-eecurity organs together with oon­
■c1e~celees careensts began to protect with the party name the mal!II terror 
agamst party cadres, cadres of the Soviet state and the ordinary Soviet citi­
zens. It should suffice to eay that the number of arrests baaed on charS"I 
of counterrevolutionary crimes had grown ten times between 1936 and 
1937. 

It is known that brutal willfulness was practiced against leading party 
workers. The party statue, approved at the 17th Party Congress was based 
?n Leninist principles expreseed at the 10th Party Congreu. It ',tated that, 
m order to apply an extreme method such as exclusion from the party against 
a Central Committee member, against a Central Committee candidate and 
against a member of the Party Control Commission, "it is necessary to call 
a Central Committee plenum and to invite to the plenum all Central Com­
~itt:' candi~ate me~ and all members of the Party Control Commis­
sion ; only if two-thirds of the members of such a general assembly of re-

l 8. Pavel P. PMtyahev (1888-1938), a worker from lvanovo-Vozneeenek 
~d a Bolshevik einee 1904, became a secretary of the Central Committee 
1n 1930 and Secretary of the Ukrainian Communist party in February 
1933. A bad.er of Stalin in earlier yean, he supported Stalin'• opponenu 
in the fall of 1932 on the qaeetion of executin1 Communist oppoeitioniete· 
a!ter that. Stalin removed him from the central Party apparatue and een; 
him to the Ukraine. In 1936-37, P~ it ie now l!P,2!rent, was umou 
l ~ who tried lo o_ppot,e t e a 0111hchi11a. For thi1 he wae sent in March 
l 37 lo Koibyahev province ae Party Secretary. In 1938 he wae ll1'Nllled 
andehoL -
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aponaible party leaden find it necessary, only then can a Central Com­
mittee member or candidate be expelled.1' 

The majority of the Central Committee members and candidates elected 
at the Jl7th Congress and arrested in 1937-1938 were expelled from the party 
illegally ~ough the brutal abuse of the party statute, because the question 
of their expu1sion was never studied at the Central Committee plenum. 

Now, when the cases of some of these so-called "epies" and "aaboteun" 
were examined, it was found tlutt,111 lbeic r.aag were fnbriMlr:d Oonfessions 
of guilt of many arrested and charged with enemy activity were gained with 
the help of ct1iel and inhuman tol t~. 
- At the same time, Stalin, as we have been informed by members of the 
Political Bureau of that time, did not show them the statements of many 
accuaed political activists when they retracted their conf e111ions before the 
military tribunal and asked for an objective examination of their ca~. 
There were many such declarations, and Stalin doubtless knew of them. 

The Central Committee considers it absolutely necessary to inform the 
Congreu of many such fabricated "caaes" against the members of the party'• 
Central Committee elected at the 17th Party Congreu. 

An example of vile provocation, of odioas falsification and of criminal 
violation of revolutionary legality is the case of the former candidate for 
the Central Committee Political Bureau, one of the most eminent worken 
of the party and of the Soviet Government, Comrade Eikhe10

, who was a 
party member since 1905. (Commotion in the hall.) 

Comrade Eikhe was arrested on April 29, 1938 on the baeis of slanderous 
materials, without the eanction of the Prosecutor of the USSR, which was 
finally received 15 months after the arrest. 

Investigation of Eikhe's case was made in a manner which most brutally 
violated Soviet legality and was accompanied by willfulneu and falsification. 

Eikhe was forced under torture to sign ahead of time a protocol of his 
confession prepared by the investigative judges, in which he and several 
other eminent party workers were accused of anti-Soviet activity. 

On October 1, 1939 Eikhe sent his declaration to Stalin in which he cate­
gorically denied his guilt and asked for an examination of hie case. In 
the declaration he wrote: "There is no more bitter misery than to sit in the 
jail of a government for which I have always fought." 

A eecond declaration of Eikhe has been preeerved which he sent to Stalin 

19. Theee qaotatlone by Khrushchev are from the Be('.ftl portion ol the 
Party conetltullon 19 which had never been published in full. 

I. Eikhe (l .. .n.-a::rflJ,., a -r..tnin er, of' the 
Bolshevik party einee 1905, and Secretary of the Weetern Siberian Prcmnclal 
Committee In 1929-34, was a candidate member of the Politburo in 1938. 
Aecordins to a.ailable information, he loet hie mind in 1938 ae a reeult of 
frlptful torture and cried out that he confeeeed hie "irollt of belonsfn,r 
to a criminal orsanisation which goee by the name of the Central Committee 
of the AD-Union Communits party (Bolahtmka)." 
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on October 27, 1939; in it he cited facts very convincingly and countered 
the slanderous accusations made against him, arguing that this provocatory 
accusation was on the one hand the work of real Trotskyites whose arrests 
he had sanctioned as First Secretary of the West Siberian Krai [Territory] 
Party Committee and who conspired in order to take revenge on him, and, 
on the other hand, the result of th~ base falsification of materials by the in­
vestigative judges. 

Eikhe wrote in his declaration: 
" ... On October 25 of this year I was informed that the investigation in 

my case has been concluded and I was given access to the materials of this 
investigation. Had I been guilty of only one hundredth of the crimes with 
which I am charged, I would not have dared to send you this pre-execution 
declaration; however, I have not been guilty of even one of the things with 
which I am charged and my heart is clean of even the shadow of baseness. 
I have never in my life told you a word of falsehood, and now, finding my two 
feet in the grave, I am also not lying. My whole case is a typical example 
of provocation, slander and violation of the elementary basis of revolutionary 
legality .... 

" ... The confessions whicli were made part of my file are not only absurd 
but contain some slander toward the Central Committee of the All-Union 
Communist Party (Bolsheviks) and toward the Council of People's Com­
missars, because correct resolutions of the Central Committee of the All-Union 
Communist Party (Bolsheviks) and of the Council of People's Commissara 
which were not made on my initiative and without my participation are 
presented as hostile acts of counterrevolutionary organizations made at my 
suggestion .... 

"I am now alluding to the most disgraceful part of my life and to my 
really grave guilt against the party and against you. This is my confession of 
counterrevolutionary activity .... The case ia as follows: ~ot being able ta_ 
suffe.r.Jhe tortura 19 JJbim I was submittt;d by Ushakov ana Nikola ev11

-

and especially by the first one-who utilized t1i.e knowledge at my broken 
ribs have not properly mended and have caused me great pain, I hav.t:. b=n 
form=d •o ace self and others. 

''The majority of my con ession has been suggested or dictated by Usha­
kov, and the remainder is my reconstruction of NKVD materials from West­
ern Siberia for which I assumed all responsibility. If some part of the 
story which Ushakov fabricated and which I signed did not properly hang 
together, I was forced to sign another variation. The same thing was done 
to Rukhimovich11, who was at first designated as a member of the reserve 

21. This is evidently z. M. Uehakov, onr. of the olde11 NKVD inveeb­
saton, who in 1936 and llubsequenl yean wu charged with inveetigaling 
many of the top Communi8ls; in July 1937, he received the Order of the 
Red Siar. Nikolayev was apparently a minor NKVD inveetigalor. 

22. Moi11ei L Rukhimovich (1889-1938), a worker and a Bolshevik eince 
1913; in 1917-18, one of the finl organi&era of the Red Guard in Kharkov, 
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net and whose name later was removed without telling me anything aboul 
it; the same was also done with the leader of the reserve net, supposedly cre­
ated by Bukharin in 1935. At first I wrote my name in, and then I was 
instructed to insert Mezhlauk13• There were other similar incidents. 

" ... I am asking and begging you that you again examine my case, and 
this not for the purpose of sparing me but in order to unmask the vile 
provocation which, like a snake, wound itself around many persons in a 
great degree due to my meanness and criminal slander. I have never be­
trayed you or the party. I know that I perish because of vile and mean 
work of the enemies of the party and of the people, who fabricated the 
provocation against me." 

It would appear that such an important declaration was worth an ex­
amination by the Central Committee. This, however, was not done, and 
the declaration was transmitted to Beria while the terrible maltreatment 
of the Political Bureau candidate, Comrade Eikhe, continued. 

On Februar_y 2.1.1940 Eikhe was b,mught before the court. Here he did 
nor conTess any guilt and safd as full.o.ws:_ . . 

ffJn all tlie so-caITecl confessions of mine there 1s not one letter written 
by me with the exception of my signatures under the protocols, which were 
forced from me. I have made my confession under pressure from the in• 
vestigative judge, who from the time of my arrest tormented me. After that 
I began to write all this nonsense .... The most important thing for me is 
to tell the court, the party and Stalin that I am not guilty. I have never been 
guilty of any conspiracy. I will die believing in the truth of party policy 
as I have believed in it during my whole life." 

On Februa 4 Eik (Indignation in the hall.) 
t as been definitely established now that Eikhe's case was fabricated; 

he has been posthumously rehabilitated. 
Comrade RudmtakH, candidate-member of the Political Bureau, member 

of the party since 1905, who spent 10 years in a Tsarist hard-labor camp, 
completely retracted fn court the confession which was forced from him. 
The protocol of the session of the CoUegium of the Supreme Military Court 
contains the following statement by Rudzutak: 

". . . The only plea which he places before the court is that the Central 
Committee of the All-Union Communist Party (Bolsheviks) be informed 
that there is in the NKVD an as yet not liquidated center which is craftily 

thereafter engaged ln economic work. In the mid-1930., he was People'• 
Commi1181lr for Commonil'11tione. Re was artteled in 1937. 

23. Valeri I. Me-zhlauk (188'9-1938), a Bolshevik einee 1917, worked in 
~omlc orpnizalion1 (a1 chairman of the "Weatem Steel" 11'1181 and 
othen) and In 1936-37 was pN!tlident or the Slate Plannins Commil8ion, 
He was al't"Hled in 1937, 

24. Yan E. Rudzutak (1887-1940), son of an ap-icultmal worker, a 
Bolshevik alntt 1905, ultimalel:, a member or the Politburo. He waa ar­
reeled In 1938. 
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manufacturing cues, which forces innocent persons to confess; there ia no 
opportunity to prove one's non-participation in crimes to which the confea­
&iom of various persom testify. The investigative methods are such that 
they force people to lie and to elander entirely innocent persons in addition 
to those who already stand accused. He asks the Court that he be allowed 
to inform the Central Committee of the All-Union Communist Party (Bol­
aheviks) about all this in writing. He assures the Court that he personally 
had never any eviJ designs in regard to the policy of our party because 
he had always agreed with the party policy pertaining to all spheres of eco• 
nomic and cultural activity ... 

This declaration of Rudzutak was ignored, despite the fact that Rudzutalc 
was in his time the chief of the Ceotral Control C9mmission, wlifcli" was 
called into being in accordance with Lenin's concept for the purpose of fight­
ing for party unity. In this manner fell the chief of this highly authorita­
tive party organ, a victim of brutal willfulness; he was not even called 
before the Central Committee's Political Bureau because Stalin did not want 
to talk to him. Sentence was pronounced on him in 20 minutes and he was 
shot. (Indignation in the hall.) 

After careful examination of the case in 1955, it was established that the 
accusation against Rudzutak was false and that it was based on slanderous 
materials. Rudzutak has been rehabilitated posthumouely. 

The way in which the former NKVD workers manufactured various fic­
titious "anti-Soviet centers" and "blocs" with the help of provocatory meth­
ods is seen from the confession of Comrade Rozenblum, party member since 
1906, who was arrested in 1937 by the Leningrad NKVD. 

During the examination in 1955 of the Komarov case11 Rozenblum revealed 
the following fact: When Rozenblum was arrested in 1937, he was subjected 
to terrible torture during which he was ordered to confess false information 
concerning himself and other persons. He was then brought to the office of 
1.akovsky", who offered him freedom on condition that he make before the 
court a false confession fabricated in 1937 by the NKVD concerning "sabo­
tage, espionage and diversion in a terroristic center in Leningrad." (Move­
ment in the hall.) With unbelievable cynicism, Zakovsky told about the vile 
"mechanism" for the crafty creation of fabricated "anti-Soviet plots." 

"In order to illustrate it to me," stated Rozenblum, "Zakovsky gave me 

25, Nikolai P. Komarov (1886-1937), a worker, a Bolshevik ■ince 1909, 
and one of KiroY'• doeeat collabo!'llton. Until 1930, he was chairman of 
the Leningrad Provincial Executive Committee, and later a member of the 
praidium of the Supreme Council for the National Economy. A member 
of the Party Central Committee since 1923, he wu arrested in 1937. 

26. Leon.id Zakovaky, one of the most prominent figure■ in the f'ala­
m,•laclalna, w&11 chief first of the u.ningrnd section (1934-38) and then 
of the Moecow section of the NKVD. He w1111 notorious for liis merclles11 
employment of torture followed hy execution. After Yezbov'• ttDIO\'al and 
Beria'• rise to power, Zakonky was arrested and di■appeared. 
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several poS&ible variants of the organization of this center and of its branches. 
After he detailed the organization to me, Zakoveky told me that the NKVD 
would prepare the case of this ceuter, remarking that the trial would be 
public. Before the court were to be brought 4 or 5 members of this center: 
Chudov11, Ugarov11, Smorodin11, Pozem10 , Shaposhnikova11 (Chudov's 
wife) and others together with 2 or 3 members from the branches of this 
center ... . 

" ... The case of the Leningrad center has to be built solidly, and for this 
reason witnesses are needed. Social origin (of course, in the put) and the 
party standing of the witness will play more than a small role. 

'"Y ~.!!L.Y~f,' said Zakoveky, 'will not need to invent anything. The 
NKVD .will.prepare for you a mdJ. outline for every branch of the center; 
you will have to study it carefully and to remember well all questions and 
answers which the Court mip;ht ask. This case will be ready in four-five 
months, or perhaps a half year. During all this time you will be preparing 
yourself so that you will not compromise the investigation and yourself. 
Your future will depend on how the trial goes and on its results. If you begin 
to lie and to testify falaely, blame yourself. If you manage to endure it, you 
will save your head and we will feed and clothe you at the Government's cost 
until your death.' " 

This is the kind of vile things which were then practiced. (Movement in 
the hall.) 

Even more widely was the falsification of cases practiced in the provinces. 
The NKVD headquarters of the Sverdlov Oblast "discovered" the so-called 
"Ural uprising staff''-an organ of the bloc of rightists, Trotskyitee, Socialist 
Revolutionaries, church leadera-whose chief supposedly was the Secretary 

27. Mikhail S. Chudov (1693-1937), a printer hy trade and a Bolshevik 
since 1913, was one of the secretaries of the Leningrad Provincial C-­
mittee in 1928-34, a very dose co-worker and friend or Kirov, and a mem­
ber of the Central Committee. He was arrested in 1937. 

28. Fyodor Y. Usarov (1887-1937), a Bolshevik llinee 1905, one of the 
secretaries of the Leningrad Provincial Committee, an aide of Kirov. Be 
w&11 arrested in 1937. 

29. Pyotr P. Smorodin (1897-1937), a Leningrad worker, Bolshevik ■inee 
1917, member of the Leningrad Provincial Committee, doee oollaborator 
of Kirov, and member of the Central Committee. He was arre■ted in 1937. 

30. Boria P. Pozern (1861-1937), a Bolshevik since 1903, an aetive 
participant in the Civil War, one of the eecretarie■ of the Leningrad Pro­
vincial Committee in 1930-34, a close oollaborator of Kiro'f\ and a member 
of the Party Central Committee since 1934. He was arre■ted in 1937. 

31. Lyudmila K. Shapoelmikova (1895-1937), a textile worker, Bolshevik 
since 1917, Secretary of the Leningrad Trade Union Coundl, and member 
of the Central Control Commiaaion. She w&11 arreeted in 1937, tc,sether 
with her h1111hand, Mikhail Chudov. From these biographical aketche■ it 
should be dear that Zakovsky selected as members of the "Leningrad anti­
Soviet center" exclusively the cloee eo-worken and friends of Kirov. 
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These and many other facts show that all norms of correct party solution 
of problems were invalidated and everything was dependent upon the will­
fulness of one man. 

The power accumulated in the hands of one person, Stalin, led to serious 
consequences during the Great Patriotic War. 

When we look at many of our novels, films and historical "scientific 
studies," the role of Stalin in the Patriotic_w:ar !lppears to be entirely im­
probable. Stalin hail foreseen everything. The Soviet Army, on the basis of 
a strategic plan prepared by Stalin long before, used the tactics of so-called 
"active defense," i.e., tactics which, as we know, allowed the Germans to come 
up to Moscow and Stalingrad. Using such tactics, the Soviet Army, sup­
poaedly thanks only to Stalin's genius, turned to the offensive and subdued 
the enemy. The epic victory gained through the armed might of the land of 
the Soviets, through our heroic people, is ascribed in this type of novel, film 
and "scientific study"" as being completely due to the strategic genius of 
Stalin. 

We have to analyze this matter carefully because it has a tremendous sig­
nificance not only from the historical, but especially from the political, edu­
cational and practical point of view. What are the facts of this matter? 

Before the war, our press and all our political-educational work was char­
acterized by its bragging tone: When an enemy violates the holy Soviet soil, 
then for every blow of the enemy we will answer with three blows, and we 
will battle the enemy on his soil and we will win without much harm to 
ourselves. But these positive statements were not based in all areas on 
concrete facts, which would actually guarantee the immunity of our borders. 

During the war and after the war, Stalin put forward the thesis that the 
tragedy which our nation experienced in the first part of the war was the 
result of the "unexpected" attack of the Germans against the Soviet Union. 
But, comrades, this is completely untrue. As soon as Hitler came to power 
in Germany he assigned to himself the task of ,!!guidatfiiiCommunimi. The 
fascists were saying this openly; they~id not hide their pl!llls. 

In order to attain this aggressive end, all sorts of pacts and blocs were 
created, such as the famous Berlin-Rome-Tokyo Axis. Many facts from the 
prewar period clearly showed that Hitler was going all out to begin a war 
against the Soviet state, and that he had concentrated large armed units, 
together with armored units, near the Soviet borders. 

Documents which have now been published show that~ April 3, 1941 
Churchill, throQ&h his Ambassador 1o. .the USSR, Cri~ rsonallv '«JL_med 
'Stalin that the Germans had begun regrouping their arme units with the 
' 10£en(;,f attacking the Soviet Union. 

39. Theae remarks by Khrushchev are dearly directed against the Euar, 
on lhe Billo,.,. o/ lhe Creal Palriolic War o/ 1941-45, published by the 
Institute of History of the Soviet Academy of Sciences at the end of 1955 
under the editorship or B. S. Telpukhovsky and others. Thi, book was 
tilled with attempts to rlorify Stalin ae a military etrate,ut. 
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It is self-evident that Church.ill did not do this at all because of his friendly 
feeling toward the Soviet nation. »e had in this his own imperialistic ~oat. 
-to brin Germany and !_!!e USSR into a .bhwJh war and thereby to 
strengthen tlie pos1llon of the British pire. 

Just the same, Churchill affirmed in his writings that he sought to "warn 
Stalin and call his attention to the danger which threatened him." Churchill 
stressed this repeatedly in his dispatches of April 18 and on the following 
days. However, Stalin took no heed of these warnings. What is more, Stalin 
ordered that no credence be given to information of this sort, in order not 
to provoke the initiation of military operationt.. 

We must a88ert that information of this sort concerning the threat of 
German armed invasion of Soviet territory was coming in also from our 
own military and die!_omatic sources; however, because the leauership was 
conditioned agafost sucli inlormatioii, such data was dispatched with fear 
and assessed with reservation. 

Thus, for instance, information sent from Berlin on May 6, 1941 by the 
Soviet military attache, Captain Vorontsov, stated: "Soviet citizen Dozer 
... communicated to the deputy naval attaaie that, according to a statement 
of a certain German officer from Hitler's headquarters, Germany is prepar­
in~ to invade the USSR on May 14 through Finland, the Raltic countries 
and Latvia. At the same time Moscow and Leningrad will be heavily 
raided and paratroopers landed in border cities. ••• " 

In his report of May 22, 1941, the deputy military attache in Berlin, 
Khlopov, communicated that " ... the attack of the German Army is re­
portedly scheduled for June 15, but it is possible that it may begin in the 
first days of June ... " 

A cable from our London Embassy dated June 18, 1941 stated: "As of 
now Cripps is deeply convinced of the inevitability of armed conflict be­
tween Germany and the USSR, which will begin not later than the middle 
of June. According to Cripps, the Germans have presently concentrated 
147 divisions (including air force and service units) along the Soviet 
borders .... " 

Despite these particularly grave wamings'0, the necessary steps were not 
taken to prepare the country properly for defense and to prevent it from be­
ing caught unawares. 

Did we have time and the capabilities for such preparation,? Yes, we had 
the time and capabilities. Our industry was already so developed that it was 
capable of supplying fully the Soviet Anny with everything that it needed. 
This is proven by the fact that, although during the war we lost almost half 

40. In thi1 period, Stalin received many more warninp about the impend• 
inr Nui attack than Kbruehchev mention,. One need only recall the wam­
inr tranemitted !l_ the U. S. State Departm.1'1\1 \Q Sovkl Arobeeu,lar Con­
•~ !!!Jlil.Dlky as early ae March 1941. Stalin refueed to believe thae 
Dle918(es llince he hoped. for an a,reement with Bitler on a joint campalp 
aplmt the Anr)o-Saxon world. 
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of our industry and important industrial and food-production areas as the 
result of enemy occupation of the kraine, Northern Caucasus and other 
western parts of the country, the Soviet nation was still able to or .. anize 
!13e production ~f military equipment in the eastern parta of the co~ntry, 
mstall there eqmpment taken from the western industrial areas, and to supply 
our armed ~orces with everything which was necessary to destroy the enemy. 

_Had our mdustry ~.mobilized properly and in time to supply the Anny 
with the necessary matenel, our wartime losaes would have been decidedly 
amaller. Such mobilization had not been, however, started in time. And al­
ready in the first days of the war it became evident that our Anny was badly 
armed, that we did not have enough artillery, tanks and planes to throw the 
enemy back. 

Soviet science and technology produced excellent models of tanks and 
artillery pieces before the war. But maS11 production of all this was not or• 
ganized, and, as a matter of fact, we started to modernize our military equip­
~ent. only on the e~e of the war .. As a result, at the time of the enemy's 
mvaaion ~f the S~viet land we did not have sufficient quantities either of 
old machmery which was no longer used for armament production or of new 
machinery which we had planned to introduce into armament production. 

Th~ situation with anti-aircraft artillery was especially bad; we did not 
organize the production of anti-tank ammunition. Many fortified regions 
had proven to be indefensible as soon as they were attacked, because the old 
arms had been withdrawn and new ones were not yet available there. 

Thia pertained, alas, not only to tanks, artillery and planea. At the out• 
break o! _the war we did n.ot even have sufficient numbers of riff~ to arm 
the mobilized manpower. I recall that in tliose a=ays I te ephoned to Comrade 
Malenkov from Kiev and told him, "People have volunteered for the new 
Anny and demand arms. You must send us arms." 

Malenkov answered me, "\te cannot send you arms. We are sending all 
our riffes to Leningrad and you have to arm younelves." (Movement in 
the hall.) 

Such was the armament situation. 
In this connection we cannot forget, for instance, the following fact: Short­

ly before the invasion of the Soviet Union by the Hitlerite army, Kirponos, 
who was chief of the Kiev Special Military District (he was later killed at the 
front)~ wrote to Stalin that the German armies were at the Bug River, were 
preparmg for an attack and in the very near future would probably start their 
offensive. In this connection, Kirponos proposed that a strong defense be 
organized, that 300,000 people be evacuated from the border areas and that 
eeveral strong points be organized there: anti-tank ditches trenches for the 
soldiers, etc. ' 

Moscow answered this proposition with the assertion that this would be 
a provocation, that no preparatory defensive work should be undertaken at 
~ horde~~• that th~ Germ~s were not to be. given any pretext for the initia­
tion of military action agamst us. Thus, our borders were insufficiently pre­
pared to repel the enemy. 

When the fascist armies had actually invaded Soviet territory and military 
operations began, Moscow iasued the order that the German fire was not to be 
returned. Why? t was use Stalin, despite evident facts, thought that 
~ war had not yet started, that this was only a provocative action on the 
part of aeveral undisciplined sectioD1 of the German Anny, and that our re­
action might serve as a reason for the Germans to begin the war. 

The following fact is also known: On the eve of the invasion of the terri­
tory of the Soviet Union by the Hitlerite army, a certain German citizen 
crossed our border and stated that the German armies had received orders 
to start the offensive against the Soviet Union on the night of June 22 at 
3 o'clock. Stalin was informed about this immediately, but even this warn­
ing was ignored. 

As you see, everything was ignored: warnings of certain Anny com­
manders, declarations of deserters from the enemy army, and even the open 
hostility of the enemy. Is this an example of the alertness of the chief of the 
party and of the state at this particularly significant historical moment? 

And what were the results of this carefree attitude, this disregard of clear 
facts? The result was that already in the first hours and days the enemy 
had destroyed in our border regioDB a large part of our Air Force, artillery 
and other military equipment; he annihilated large numbers of our military 
cadres and disorganized our military leadership; conaequently we could not 
prevent the enemy from marching deep into the country. 

Very grievous consequences, especially in reference to the beginning of 
the war, followed Stalin's annihilation of many military commanden and 
political workers during 1937-1941 because of his suspiciousness and through 
slanderous accusations. ' 1 During these years repressions were instituted 
against certain parts of military cadres beginning literally at the company 
and battalion commander level and extending to the higher military centers; 
during this time the cadre of leaders who had ained military ~rience in 
S ain and in the ar t was ost com etel • qui at . 

The po cy of large-sea e repression against e miliwy cadres led also to 
undermined military discipline, because for several years officers of all ranks 
and even soldiers in the party and Komsomol cells were taught to "unmask" 
their superiors as hidden enemies. (Movement in the hall.) It is natural 
that this caused a negative in8uence on the state of military discipline in the 
first war period. 

And, as you know, we had before the war excellent military cadres which 
were unquestionably loyal to the party and to the Fatherland. Suffice it to 
say that those of them who managed to survive, despite severe tortures to 

41. We now know Crom revelations b:, £ormer memben or the German 
IICCl'et police that Stalin wiped out a vast part or the command penonnel 
or the Red Arm:, on e :rtaTse ilocumenta which Stalin'• personal sec­
l"f'laria1 had rec-eived Crom Naza asenla. 11ie fflse iTocumenta on the bui■ 
of" wl1ic-11 M11r!1l111] T11'kh1!U:11tYJ~ ,11ncl hi11 doseat rolleague• were execaled 
were turned over 1n, &,:i a enta lo L Z. MeklJia a tru■ted member of 
Stalin'• penonnel secretariat, •ho Jlew lo er· £or that purpose in Ma:, 1937. 
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which they were eubjected in the prisons, have from the first war days shown 
themselves real patriots and heroically fought for the glory of the Fatherland; 
I have here in mind such comrades as Rokossovsky (who, as you know, had 
been jailed), Gorbatov, Maretskov (who is a delegate at the present Con­
gress)", Podlas (he was an excellent commander who perished at the front), 
and many, many others. However, many such commanders perished in 
camps and jails and the Army saw them no more. 

All this brought about the situation which existed at the beginning of the 
war and which was the great threat to our Fatherland. 

It would be incorrect to forget that, after the first severe disaster and 
defeat at the fron~ Stalin thought that this was the end. In one of his 
speeches in those days he said: "All that which Lenin created we have lost 
forever." 

.lhi&Stalin for a long time actually did not direct the military opera­
tions and ceased to do an • whatever. He returned to active leadership 
only when some members of the Politreal Bureau visited him and told him 
that it was necessary to take certain steps immediately in order to improve 
the situation at the fronL 

Therefore, the threatening danger which hung over our Fatherland in the 
first period of the war was largely due to the faulty methods of directing the 
nation and the party by Stalin himself. 

However, we speak not only about the moment when the war began, which 
led to serious diaorganization of our Army and brought us severe loues. 
Even after the war began, the nervousness and hysteria which Stalin dem­
onstrated, interfering with actual military operation, caused our Army seri­
ous damage. 

Stalin was very far from an understanding of the real situation which 
was developing at the front. This was natural because, during the whole 
Patriotic War, he never visited any section of the front or any liberated city 
except for one abort ride on the Mozhaisk highway during a stabilized situ­
ation at the fronL To this incident were dedicated many literary works full 
of fantasies of all sorts and so many paintings. Simultaneously, Stalin was 
interfering with operations and i111111ing orders which did not take into con­
sideration the real situation at a given l!eetion of the front and which could 
not help but result in hu~ personnel lo88e8. 

I will allow myself in this connection to bring out one characteristic fact 
which illustrates how Stalin directed operations at the fronts. There is present 

42. Manha) Komtantin K. Rokoaonky, now Poland'• Defenee lllnlmr, 
wa, arrested in 1937 in Leningrad, where he wa1 a corpe commander, He 
wae repeatedly mbjected to brutal beatinp in the eoune of lnten-osation 
and then eenl lo a conc:enlralion camp, from whieh he wa, releaeed .hortly 
before the outbreak or war ln 1941. The Nme fate cnertook the other 
military commanders mentioned by Khnuhchev I Colonel-General Alexander 
V. Gorbau,v, now commander or the Baltic Military Dutriet1 MaNhal Kirill 
A. Meret1kcn, now commander or the Northern Mllita17 Dl•trfet, and many 
othel'I. 
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at this Congress Marshal Bagraml,an••, who was once the chief of operations 
in ~ headquarters of the southwestern front and who can corroborate what 
I will tell you. 

When there developed an exceptionally serious ~ituation for our Army_ in 
1942 in the Kharkov region, we had correctly decided to drop an operation 
whose objective was to encircle Kharkov, because the real situation at that 
time would have threatened our Army with fatal coneequences if this 
operation were continued. 

We communicated this to Sta'lin1 stating that the situation demanded 
changes in operational plans so that the enemy would be prevented from 
liquidating a sizable concentration of our Army. 

Contrary to common sense, Stalin rejected our suggestion and i!Sued 1!1e 
order to continue the operation aimed at the encirclement of Kharkov, despite 
the fact that at this time many Army concentrations were thermelves adually 
threatened with encirclement and liquidation. 

I telephoned to Vasilevsky .. and begged him: "Alexander Mikhailovich, 
take a map"-Vasilevsky is present here--"and show Comrade Stalin the 
situation which has developed." We should note that Stalin planned oper• 
ations on a globe. (Animation in the hall.) Yes, comrades, he used to 
take the globe and trace the front line on it. I said to Comrad V asilevalcy: 
"Show him the situation on a map; in the present situation we cannot con­
tinue the operation which was planned. The old decision must be changed 
for the good of the cause." 

V asilevsky replied, saying that Stalin had already studied this problem 
and that he, Vasilevsky, would not see Stalin further concerning this matter, 
because the latter didn't want to hear any arguments on the subject of this 
operation. 

After my talk with V asilevsky, I telephoned to Stalin at his villa. But 
Stalin did not answer the telephone and Malenkov was at the receiver. I told 
Comrade Malenkov that I was calling from the front and that I wanted to 
speak personally to Stalin. Stalin informed me throug~ Malenkov ~at I 
should speak with Malenkov. I stated for the second time that I wished 
to inform Stalin personally about the grave situation which had arisen for us 
at the front. But Stalin did not consider it convenient to raise the phone 
and again stated that I should speak to him through Malenkov, although he 
was only a few steps from the telephone. 

After "listening" in this manner to our plea, Stalin said: "Let everything 
remain as it is!" 

And what was the result of this? The worst that we had expected. The 
Germans surrounded our Army concentrations and conaequently we lost hun­
dreds of thousands of our soldiers. This is Stalin's military "genios"; this is 
what it cost us. (Movement in the hall.) 

43. Manha) Ivan K. Bagramian i1 today a Deputy Mini11ter of Defenee. 
44. MaNhal Alexander M. Vasilewky ie today Fint Deputy Mini11ter of 

Defenee, 
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On one occasion after the war, during a meeting of Stalin with membere 
of the Political Bureau, Anastas lvanovich Mik;Ian mentioned that Khrush­
chev must have been r_!_ght when he telephon concermng the Kharkov 
opera 10n anJ that it was unfortunate that his suggestion had not been ac­
cepted. 

You should have seen Stalin's fury! How could it be admitted that he, 
Stalin, had not been right! He is after all a "genius," and a genius cannot 
help but be right! Everyone can err, but Stalin considered that he never 
ened, that he was always right. He never acknowledged to anyone that he 
made any mistake, large or small, despite. the fact that he made not a few 
mistakes in the matter of theory and in his practical activity. After the 
Party Congress we shall probably have to re-evaluate many wartime mili­
tary operations and to present them in their true light. 

The tactics on which Stalin insisted without knowing the essence of the 
conduct of battle operations cost us much blood until we succeeded in atop­
ping the opponent and going over to the offensive. 

The military know that already by the end of 1941, instead of great oper­
ational maneuvers flanking the opponent and penetrating behind hia back, 
Stalin demanded incessant frontal attacks and the capture of one village after 
another. 

Because of this, we paid with great lo88e&-Ulltil our generals, on 
whose shoulders rested the whole weight of conducting the war, succeeded 
in changing the situation and shifting to flexible-maneuver operations, which 
immediately brought serious changes at the front favorable to us. 

All the more shameful was the fact that, after our great victory over the 
enemy which cost us so much. Stalin began to downgrade many of the com­
manders who contributed so much to the victory over the enemy, becall8e 

Stalin excluded every po88ibility that services rendered at the front should 
be credited to anyone but himself. 

Stalin was very much interested in the assessment of Comrade Zhukov as a 
military leader. He asked me often for my opinion of Zhukov. I told him then, 
"I have known Zhukov for a long time; he is a good general and a good mili­
tary leader." 

After the war Stalin began to tell all kinds of nonsense about Zhukov, among 
others the following, "You praised Zhukov, but he does not deserve it. It is 
said that before each operation at the front Zhukov used to behave as follows: 
He used to take a handful of earth, smell it and say, 'We can begin the attack,' 
or the opposite, 'The planned operation cannot be carried out.'" I stated at 
that time, "Comrade Stalin, I do not know who invented this, but it is not 
true." 

It is po88ible that Stalin himself invented these things for the purpose of 
minimizing the role and military talents of Marshal Zhukov. 

In this connection. Stalin verv energetically popularir.ed himself as a great 
leader; in various ways he tried to inculcate in the people the version that all 
victories gained by the Soviet nation during the Great Patriotic War were due 
to the courage, daring and genius of Stalin and of no one e1ae. Exactly like 
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KUIID& Kryucbkov" he put one dnlll on .even people at the same time. (Anl• 
mation in the hall.) 

In the same vein, let ua take, for inlltance, our historical and military film. 
and some literary creations; they make ua feel sick. Their true objective ia the 
propagation of the theme of praising Stalin u a military genius. Let ua recall 
the film, The Fallo/ Berlin." Here only Stalin acts; he isauea orden in the 
hall in which there are many empty chain and only one man approached him 
and reporta something to him-that ia Poskrebyshcv'', hie loyal abield-bearer. 
(Laughter in the hall) 

And where ia the military command? Where ia the Political Bureau? Where 
is the Government? What are they doing and with what are they engaged? 
There ia nothing about them in the film. Stalin acta for everybody; he does 
not reckon with anyone; he ub no one for advice. Everything ia ahown to 
the nation in thia false light. Why? In order to aurround Stalin with glory, 
contrary to the facta and contrary to historical truth. 

The question ariaea: And where are the military, on whose shoulden rated 
the burden of the war? They are not in the film; with Stalin in, no room was 
left for them. . 

Not Stalin, but the party as a whole, the Soviet Gov~t, ?ur heroic 
Anny, ita talented leaden and brave aoldiera, the whole SoTiet nation-theae 
are the ones who auured the victory in the Great Patriotic War. (Tempeetu• 
ous and prolonged applause.) 

The Central Committee members, ministers, our economic leaden, leaden 
of Soviet culture, directors of territorial-party and Soviet organisations, engi­
neers, and technician~ery one of them in hie own place of work generouely 
gave of hie strength and knowledge toward ensuring victory over the enemr. 

Exceptional heroism was shown by our hard core--au.no~d~ by ~lory 11 

our whole working clua, our kollchoz peasantry, the SoTiet mtelligen~a, who 
under the leadership of party organizations overcame untold hardshipa and, 
bearing the hardships of war, devoted all their strength to the came of the 
defense of the Fatherland. 

45. Kll&IIUl Kryuchluw wu a Don Coeuck who diltinpiabecl hbmelf 
in the fint bonier dubea with the German• in 1914 and whom the Rueian 
yellow prea tried to slorify a, a national hero. His name came to 9land in 
Rmaian literature for raucow Jinpi1m. 

46. The Fall of Beriin, diftded by Mikhail Cluaurell from a Krip1 by 
Peter PHlenko, wae a Soriet &Im releaeed in 1949 with the llpeCial object 
of attribatins the entire .letory over Germany to Stalin. Manha) Georsi 
K. Zhu.ken, who commanded the troopi that took Berlin and later aeeepted 
the ,urrender of the German command. appean in The Fall of Beriin for 
oal:, a few 1eCODct-lo receive orden from Stalin. 

47. Alexander N. Poureh,'lh.e,, wa, Ions the bead of Stalin', .-,-.I 
11eetttariat and the laiter•• tnYted aide In aU eorte of nefarious andertaldnp. 
Be wae by no mean• lbel"el:, Stalin'• "ebleld-bearer," bat played a tremenclow 
role behind the acenea; in partic:ular, he wu a principal in.91iptor of the 
f--,.hcldncr. He dieappearecl immediately aflel" Stalin'• death. 
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Great and brave deeds during the war were accomplished by our Soviet 
wo~en who bore on their backs the heavy load of production work in the fac­
tones, on the lwlldwzes, and in various economic and cultural sectors; many 
women participated directly in the Great Patriotic War at the fronts· our 
brave youth contributed immeasurably at the front and at home to the d;fenee 
of the Soviet Fatherland and to the annihilation of the enemy. 

Immortal are the servicel' of the Soviet soldiers, of our commanders and 
palitical workers of all ranb; after the lou of a considerable part of the Army 
m the fint war months they did not lose their heads and were able to reorgan­
ize during the progress of combat; they created and toughened during the 
progress of the war a strong and heroic Army and not only lltood off 
pressures of the strong and cunning enemy but also smashed him. 

The magnificent and heroic deeds of hundreds of millions of people of the 
~t and of the West during thil fight againet the threat of fascist subjugation 
which loomed before us will live centuries and millennia in the memory of 
thankful humanity. (Thunderous applause.) 

The main role and the main credit for the victorioUB ending of the war 
belongs to our Communillt party, to the armed forces of the Soviet Union, and 
to the tens of millions of Soviet people raised by the party. (Thunderous and 
prolonged applall!e.) 

C~mrades, let us reach for some other facts. The Soviet Union is justly 
considered as a model of a multinational state because we have in practice 
aasured the equality and friendship of all nations which live in our great 
Fatherland. 

All the more monstrous are the acts whose initiator was Stalin and which 
are rud~ violations of the bll8ic Leninist principles of the nationality policy of 
the Soviet lltate. We refer to the mass deportations from their native places of 
whole nations, together with all Communists and Komsomole without any 
~tion; this deportation action was not dictated by any military considera­
tions. 

Thue, already at the end of 1943, when there occurred a permanent break­
thr~~h at the fronts of the Great Patriotic War benefiting the Soviet Union, a 
decl8lon was taken and executed concerning the deportation of all the Kara­
chai from the lands on which they lived. 

In the same period,.at the end of December 1943, the same lot befell the 
whole population of the Autonomous Kalmyk R~blic. In March 1944, all 
the Chechen and lnguah peoples were eport ana the Chechen-Ingush Au­
tonomous Republic was liquidated. In April 1944, all Balkars were de orted 
to faraway places from the territory of the Kabarclino- a ar utonomous 
Republic and the Republic itself was renamed the Autonomous Kabardian 
Republic••. 

'fhe Ukrainians avoided meeting this fate only because there were too 
many ol them and there wirs no place· lo wMMilo deport them. Otherwise, he 

48. Khruahchev doea not mention two So"Yiet republiai liquidated daring 
the war on Stalin', orden whoae populations were deported to Siberia 
and Kazakhatan, I.&, the autonomoua Volp German and Crimean Republica. 
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would have deport.eel them also. (Laughter and animation in the hall.) 
Not only a Mamet-Leninist but also no man of common eenee can gra1p 

how it is pouible to make whole nations re1pomible for inimical activity, in­
cluding women, children, old people, Communiate and Komeomole, to use mau 
repreuion against them, and to expose them to misery and suffering for the 
hostile acts of individual persons or groups of persons. 

After the conclusion of the Patriotic War, the Soviet nation stressed with 
pride the magnificent victories gained through great sacrifices and tremendous 
efforts. The country experienced a period of political enthuaiaam. The party 
came out of the war even more united; in the fire of the war, party cadres 
were tempered and hardened. Under such conditions nobody could have even 
thought of the pouibility of some plot in the party. 

And it was precisely at this time that the so-called "Leningrad affair" was 
born. As we have now proven, this case was fabricated. Those who miiocently 
lost their lives included Comrades Vomesenaky, Kumetsov, Rodionov, Pop­
kov, and others. 49 

Ae is known, Voznesensky and Kuznetsov were talented and eminent lead­
ers. Once they stood very close to Stalin. It is sufficient to mention that Stalin 
made Vomesensky first deputy to the chairman of the Council of Ministers 
and Kuznetsov was elected Secretary of the Central Committee. The very fact 
that Stalin entrusted Kuznetsov with the supervision of the etate-eecurity 
organs shows the trust which he enjoyed. 

How did it happen that these persons were branded as enemies of the people 
and liquidated? 

Facts prove that the '"Leningrad affair" is also the result of willfulnese which 
Stalin exercised against party cadres. Had a normal situation existed in the 
party's Central Committee and in the Central Committee Political Bureau, 
affairs of this nature would have been examined there in accordance with 
party practice, and all pertinent facts assessed; as a result, such an affair as 
well as others would not have happened. 

We must state that, after the war, the situation became even more compli-

49. A great deal ha, been written about the "Lenlnpad cate," bat the 
eaaential ram are still ugkQWn. Thus far, no Sonet publication hu siftll 
the exa natllft or the chargea leading to the execution or Nikolai A. 
Voznesen•k1, a Politburo member and President or the State Planning Com­
mialon; A. A. Kaznebov, Secretary or the Central Committee; Pyotr S. 
Popkov, Secretar, or the Leningrad Pro'Yincial Committee; Mikhail J. 
Rodionov, Chairman or the Council or Ministera or the Rualan Republic, 
and othen. Khruahchn's speech also fails to dear thi• up. His moat hn­
portant faduul i;tatement ia the a-rtion that Stalin had aaigned Kwmetaov 
to the auneillance or the •tate-eecurit, organ-chat i•, Stalin had rellllO'\'ed 
thew. organ, £or !!Orne time from Beria's aapeniaion. Thia order b1 Stalin 
must ha"Ye been gi"Yen in 1947, when Zhdano"Y'a influence was at ill beipt1 
KuznelM>'\' waa Zhdano"Y'a man. Khru1hche"Y'1 atatement throw, new li1bt on 
the Intense atmggle that raged at the top lnela or the ~hne In the fint 
7ean a ter the war. 
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~ S!4!m became even more capricioUB, irritable and brutal; in particular 
bis suspicion grew. His persecution mania reached unbelievable dinienaiona. 
M~y workers w~re becoming enemiesoefore his very eyes. After the war, 
Stalin separated himSelf from the collective even more. Everything was decided 
by him alone without any consideration for anyone or anything. 

This unbelievable suspicion was cleverly taken advantage of by the abject 
provocateur and vile enemy, Beria, who had murdered thousands of Commu­
nists and loyal Soviet people. The elevation of Voznesensky and Kuznetsov 
alarmed Beria. As we have now proven, it bad been precisely Beria who bad 
~suggested" to Stalin the fabrication by him and by his confidants of materials 
m the form of declarations and anonymous letters, and in the form of various 
rumors and talks. 
~~. party's Centr~ Committee bas examined this so-called "Leningrad 

affau ; persons who 10nocently suffered are now rehabilitated and honor bas 
been restored to the glorious Leningrad party organization. Abakumov6° and 
others who. had f~bricated this affair were brought before a court; their trial 
took place m Lenmgrad and they received what they deserved. 

The qu~on arises: Wh is it that we see the truth of this affair donly now, 
and why did we not do er uring Stalin's life, in or er to pre­
ven e oss o innocent lives?Jt was,becauJ!: Stalin personally supervised the 
"Leningrad affair," and the majority of the olitical Bureau members did not, 
at that time, know all of the circumstances in these matters anacouTcl-iiof 
therefore intervene. 

When Stalin received certain material from Beria and Abakumov without 
examining these slanderous materials he ordered an investigatio~ of the 
"affair" of Voznesensky and Kuznetsov. With this, their fate was sealed. 

~nstru~ve in the same way is the case of the Mingrelian nationalist organi­
zation which supposedly existed in Georgia.111 As is known, resolutions by the 

50. Victor S. Abakumov, Soviet Minister of State Security in 1947-51 and 
several of his closest colleagues were condemned and executed In Dece•r 
1954. The basis of the aCC1111ation was the repreuive measures ta'ken hy 
Abakumov against Zhdanov's d011e111 aides in the "Leninll'lld cue." 

51. Thu far, there has been no information about the .. Mingrelian con-
11piraey" in the press. Khruhchev's speech does little 10 fill this gap. The 
November 1951 and March 1952 resolutions of the Party Central Commillee 
lo which Khrushchev refers were never published in the press. Unquestion­
ably related lo this affair is the disappearance of K. N. Charkviani, who 
was First Secretary of the Georirian Communist party from 1939 10 1951; 
most likely, he was pronounced a leader of this conspiracy (which wu, 
of coune, a product of the MVD's ima«iftalion). Those drawn into this 
l"ase were IICCUlled, accordin,: lo Khruhchev, of planning Georcia's secession 
from the USSR and union with Turkey. 

Khruhchev's statement on the .. Mingrelian consplney" does explain the 
PDl'gCII in Georgia in 1952. Thou,th he implies that the "Mingrelian case," 
like the .. Leninpad case," was also staged by Beria and Abakumov this 
is a deliberate dilllorlion. It was precisely in November 1951 that S. D. 
lpatiev, one of Beria'1 bitterest enemiu, was appointed Miniater of State 
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Central Committee, Communist Party of the Soviet Union, were made con• 
ceming this case in November 1951 and in March 1952. These resolutions 
were made without prior discussion with the Political Bureau. Stalin had 
personally dictated them. They made serious accusations against many loyal 
Communists. On the basis of falsified documents, it was proven that there 
existed in Georpa a supposedly nationalistic organization whose objective 
was the liquidation of the Soviet power in that republic with the help of 
imperialist powers. 

In this connection, a number of responsible party and Soviet workers were 
arrested in Georgia. As was later proven, this was a slander directed against 
the Georgian party organization. 

We know that there have been at times manifestations of local bourgeois 
nationalism in Georgia as in several other republics. The question arises: 
Could it be possible that, in the period during which the resolutions referred to 
above were made, nationalist tendencies grew so much that there was a danger 
of Georgia's leaving the Soviet Union and joining Turkey? (Animation iH the 
nail, liug6ter.) - ---

This is, of course, nonsense. It is impossible to imagine how such assump­
tions could enter anyone's mind. Everyone knows how Georgia bas developed 
economically and culturally under Soviet rule. 

Industrial production of the Georgian Republic is 27 times greater than it 
was before the Revolution. Many new industries have arisen in Georgia which 
did not exist there before the Revolution: iron smelting, an oil industry, a 
machine-construction industry, etc. Illiteracy bas long since been liquidated, 
which, in pre-Revolutionary Georgia, included 78 per cent of the population. 

Could the Georgians, comparing the situation in their republic with the hard 
situation of the working masses in Turkey, be aspiring to join Turkey? In 
1955, Georgia produced 18 times as much steel per person as Turkey. Georgia 
produces 9 times as much electrical energy per person as Turkey. According 
to the available 1950 census, 65 per cent of Turkey's total population are illit­
erate, and, of the women, 80 per cent are illiterate. Georgia bas 19 institutions 
of higher learning which have about 39,000 students; this is 8 times more 
than in Turkey (for each 1,000 inhabitants). The prosperity of the working 
people bas grown tremendously in Georgia under Soviet rule. 

It is clear that, as the economy and culture develop, and as the socialist 
consciousness of the working masses in Georgia grows, the source from which 
bourgeois nationalism draws its strength evaporates. 

As it developed, there was no nationalistic organization in Georgia. Thou­
sands of innocent people fell victim to willfulness and lawlessness. All of this 
happened under the "genial" leadership of Stalin, ''the great son of the 

Security; the "Mingrelian case" wu, therefore, 1rumped up as a blow al 
Beria. II and the purges which followed in Georgia (in April, September 
and Nov-ember 1952) undermined Beria'e position and deared the way for 
the projected "second Y eslam,1hclaina" whieh began, after the 19th Party 
Congreu of November 1952, with the arresll in the "docton' plot." 
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Georgian nation," as Georgians like to refer to Stalin. (Animation in the 
hall.) 

The willfulness of Stalin showed itself not only in decisions concerning the 
internal life of the country but also in the international relations of the Soviet 
Union. 

The July plenum of the Central Committee studied in detail the reasons for 
the development of conflict with Yugoslavia. It was a shameful role which 
Stalin played here. The "Yugoslav affair" contained no eroblems which could 
not have been solved lhfovili art °dra1JUmna IWADg..c.D . There was 
no s1gm cant nuis for the development of this "affair"; it was completely 
possible to have prevented the rupture of relations with that country. This 
does not mean, however, that the Yugoslav leaders did not make mistakes or 
did not have shortcomings. But these mistakes and shortcomings were magni­
fied in a monstrous manner by Stalin, which resulted in a break of relations 
with a friendly country. 

I recall the first days when the conflict between the Soviet Union and Yugo­
elavia began artificially to be blown up. Once, when I came from Kiev to 
Moecow, I was invited to visit Stalin, who, pointinp; to the copy of a letter 
lately sent to Tito, asked me, "Have you read this?'' 

Not waiting for my reply, he answered, "I will shake m.y little fin r-and 
there will be no more Tito. Ile. .lfil].Jall." 

"Te liave dearly paid for this "shaking of the little finger." This statement 
reflected Stalin's mania for greatness, but he acted just that way: "I will shake 
my little finger-and there will be no Kossior"; "I will shake my little finger 
once more and Postyshev and Chuhar will be no more"; "I will shake my 
little finger again-and Voznesensky, Kuznetsov and many others will dis­
appear." 

But this did not happen to Tito. No matter how much or how little Stalin 
shook, not only his little finger but everything else that he could shake, Tito 
did not fall. Why? The reason was that, in this case of disagreement with the 
Y ugoelav comrades, Tito had behind him a state and a people who had gone 
through a severe ecbool of fighting for liberty and independence, a people 
which gave support to its leaders. 

You see to what Stalin's mania for greatness led. He had completely lost 
coneciousness of reality; he demonstrated his suspicion and haughtiness not 
only in relation to individuals in the USSR, but in relation to whole parties 
and nations. 

We have carefully examined the case of Yugoslavia and have found a proper 
solution which ie approved by the peoples of the Soviet Union and of Yugo­
elavia as well as by the working masses of all the people's democracies and by 
all progressive humanity. The liquidation of the abnormal relationship with 
Yugoelavia was done in the interest of the whole camp of socialism, in the 
interest of strengthening peace in the whole world. 

Let us also recall the "affair of the doctor-plotters." (Animation in the 
hall.) Actually there was no a air outs1 e o eclaration of the woman 
doctor T"unashuk, who was probably influenced or ordered by someone ( after 
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all, she was an unofficial collaborator of the organs of state eecurity) to write 
Stalin a letter in which she declared that doctors were applying supposedly 
improper methods of medical treatment. 

Such a letter was sufficient for Stalin to reach an immediate conclusion that 
there are doctor-plotters in the Soviet Union. u He issued orders to arrest a 
group of eminent Soviet medical specialists. He personally issued advice on 
the conduct of the investigation and the method of interrogation of the arrested 
persons. He said that the academician Vinogradov should be put in chains, 
another one should be beaten. Present at this Congress as a delegate is the for­
mer Minister of State Security, Comrade lgnatiev. Stalin told him curtly, "If 
you do not obtain confessions from the doctors we will shorten you by a 
head." (Tumult in the hall.) 

Stalin personally called the investigative judge, gave him instructions, ad­
vised him on which investigative methods should be uaed; these methods were 
simple-heat, beat and, once again, beat. 

Shortly after the doctors were arrested, we members of the Political Bureau 
received protocols with the doctors' confessions of guilL After distributing 
these protocols, Stalin told us, "You are blind like young kittens; what will 
happen without me? The country will perish because you do not know how 
to recognize enemies." 

The case was so presented that no one could verify ~ facts on which the 
investigation was based. There w~ no possibility of trying to verify facts by 
contacting those who had made the confessions of guilt. 

, We felt, however, that the case of the arrested doctors was questionable. We 
knew some of these people personally because they had once treated us. When 

52. The case of the "docton' plot" was concocted on Stalin'• ordera in 
the winter of 1952-53 Ju the then Minister of State Security, S. D. IIJDBtiev, 
and his depiiiy, Ryumin, Several dozen of the leading docton m :Moecow 
were arrated, headed by the top specialiat■ of the Kremlin hoepital who 
treated Stalin and all the Soviet chieftains. The:, were officially charsed 
with using improper medical techniques in order to murder their patients. 

pecifically, they were accused of having poi■on An i _, Zhdanov and 
Alexander S. Shcherbakov and of attempting to poillOll Manhals Konev, 
V a■llevaky, Govorov and othen. 

The fint official announcement of the case appeared on January 13, 1953 
in Prtnlda and lnealia. Two of the arrested doctors. Professor M. B. Kopn 
and Professor Y. G. Etinger, died under torture. The stage wa■ beins ■et 
for a major trial, with the docton and their accomplice■ accwed of beins 
asenta of foreign intelligence (chiefly Amer!_can). At the same time, the 
former leaden of the MGB were accused of insufficient vigilance. This 
wa■ directed fint and foremost at Beria himself. 

After Stalin'• death, the case--;;;' reviewed on Beria'■ orden and all 
the surviving prillOllen were released. while R:,umin, who directly led the ,,;,­
investigation of the "plot.'' was tried and executed. atiev as reeeued 
from arrest chiefly by the interceuion of Khrushchev, who put him to work 
in the Varty apparatus. {lgnatievu now t tar:, of the Bashkirian 
Provincial Committee.) 
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we examined this "cue" after Stalin's death, we found it to be fabricated from 
beginning to end. 

This ignominious "cue" was set up by Stalin; he did not, howe er, have the 
time in which to bring it to an end (as he conceived that end), and for thie 
reason the doctors are still alive. Now all have been rehabilitated; they are 
working in the same places they were working before; they treat top individu­
als, not excluding members of the Government; they have our full confidence; 
and they execute their duties honestly, as they did before. 

In organizing the variou dirty and shameful cases, a very base role was 
played by the rabid enemy of our party, •~1 of a foreign intclli&CJJCf! 
service-Ber.ip, who had stolen into Stalin's confidence. In what way could this 

'prci;"ocateur gain such a position in the party and in the state, so as to become 
the First Deputy Chairman of the Council of Ministers of the Soviet Union 
and a member of the Central Committee Political Bureau? It has now been 
established that this villain had climbed up the Government ladder over an 
untold number of corpses. 

Were there any signs that Beria was an enemy of the party? Yes, there 
were . .Already in 1937, at a Central Committee plenum, former People's Com­
miuar of Health51 Kaminsky said that Beria worked for the Mu1111avat intelli­
gence service. st But the Central Committee plenum had barely concluded when 
Kaminsky was arrested and then shot. Had Stalin examined Kaminsky's state­
ment? No, because Stalin believed in Beria, and that was enough for him. 
And when Stalin believed in anyone or anything, then no one could say any­
thing which was contrary to his opinion; anyone who would dare to express 
opposition would have met the same fate as Kaminsky. 

There were other signs, alao. The declaration which Comrade Snegov11 made 
to the party's Central Committee is interesting. (Parenthetically speaking, he 
was alao rehabilitated not long ago, after 17 years in prison camps.) In this 
declaration, Snegov writes: 

"In connection with the proposed rehabilitation of the former Central Com­
mittee member, Kartvelishvili-Lavrentiev11•, I have entrusted to the hands of 

53. G. N. Kamimky, a Bolahevik since 1913, member of the Central 
C-ommittee, and People'• Commiuar for Health, wae arreeted in Moeoow In 
1937 and disappeared. Beria, at that time Secretary of the Geor,ian Com­
munist party and livin1 in TUiia, oould have no direct oonnection with the 
arreete in Moeoow. 

54. The "Muuavat," the nationalut Moelem party, played a major role 
in ARl'baijan in the yean 1917-20. 

55. No information le available about Snegov; he wae undoubtedly a 
Communiet part:, functionary in Baku. 

56. l.avrenti I. Kartvelishvill (1891-1938), a Bolehevik aince 1910 and a 
memhel' of the Central Committee •~e 1930, Be occupied a number of 
prominent poets in Georpa ( ••I•, Cltainnan ol the Georsian Council of 
People's Commiuan, 1927-29). 

In 1930-31, fOftled oollectiYiut.ion led to widapread pea1&nt dieturbancee 
in Tranacaucaaia. The ()qaniaation Bureau of the Part:, C-aunl Com-
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would be easy to prove the baselessness of the charges. I believe deeply that 
truth and justice will triumph. I believe. I believe.•• 

The old Bolshevik, Comrade Kedrov, was found innocent by the Military 
Collegium. But, despite this, he was shot at Beria's order. (Indignation in 
the hall.) 

Beria also handled cruelly the family of Comrade Ordzhonikidze. Why? 
Because Ordzhonikid.ze had tried to prevent Beria from realizing his shame­
ful plans. Beria had cleared from his way all persons who could possibly inter­
fere with him. Ordzhonikidze was always an opponent of Beria, which he told 
to Stalin. Instead of examining this affair and taking appropriate steps, Stalin 
allowed the liquidation of Ordzhonikidze's brother and brought OrdzhoJti• 
kidze himself to such a state that he was forced to shoot himself61

• tFnd1gnation 
in the hall.) 

Beria was unmasked by the party's Central Committee shortly after Stalin's 
death. & a result of the particularly detailed legal proceedings, it was estab­
lished that Beria had committed monstrous crimes and Beria was shot11

• 

58. Official Soviet 1latement1 darins the palll three yean have p-adaally 
liCted the veil or eecrecy Crom the death or Grisory K. (Serso) Ordshonilddse 
(1886-1937), The original venion published in the Soviet preu attributed 
hla death on February 18, 1937 to heart dieeaee. This can now be &nally 
diecardecl-11 can any confidence in the official bulletins or Soviet docton. 
Nor can one trust the latest 11tatement, that he shot himeelr. 

Beria unquestfonably undermined Orddtonikidze and penecuted tboee 
near to him In every way, but, aecordins to available inCormatJon, Orddtoa­
lkidze'1 brother was workins not in Georgia but in the Donbaa, to whleh 
Beria'1 power did not then atend; moreover, Ordzhonikidze', brother died 
aCter the death or Serso himeelr. This .ahow1 that S1alin'1 Ceud with 
Orddaonikidze 1temmed Crom cause, other than the penecutlon or hie 
brother and that ehier reepon1ibility (or it does not lie with Beria. It u 
probably the other way around: Beria began to undermine Ordshonikidae 
precisely became he knew about the latter's conflict with Stalin. 

Khru1hehev pre(en to remain 1ilent about theae real eaueea, 1inee other­
wise he would have to reveal the peat political •trunle between Stalin 
and the majority or the Central Committee elected at the 17th Party C-. 
pelt, The IDOllt influential leader or this majority carter the murder or 
Kirov and the poieonio« or Kuib11hev) wa11 Ordshonikidze, who died dur­
ins the conf'erence1 Precedins the official openins or the Centnl C.0.0-
mittee plenum (February 23, 1937). At this plenum, Stalin 1ma1hed the 
real1tance or the majority, and it wa1 decided to put Bukharin, RykOT and 
othen on trial in Moecow and Budu Mdivani and othen in 1iflla. In order 
to lmure hla total 'rictory, Stalin bad to remove Ordzhonikidze. Bence, 
despite Khruehehev'1 llatement, it becomes more and more likely that 
Ordshonikidze was po~ed on Stalin'• orden, with Poskrel,y1hev handlins 
the a1a1snm n 

59. One newspaper report hu Khruehehev telling the recent Freneh 
Sodall1t delqation that Beria was killed du.riq a ee111ion or the Party 
Presidium b Deputy Premier Anastas Mikoyan. 
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thing, it meant it waa ao--after all. he wu a "genius." and a genius d091 
not need to count, he only needs to look and can immediately tell how it 
ahould be. When he expreuea hia opinion, everyone hu to repeat it and 
to admire hia wisdom. 

But how much wisdom wu contained in the proposal to raise the agri­
cultural tax by 40 billion rubles? None, absolutely none, becauae the pro­
poaal was not based on an actual assessment of the 1ituation but on the 
fantutic ideas of a person divorced from reality. 

We are currently beginning alowly to work our way out of a difficult 
agricultural situation. The speeches of the delegates to the Twentieth Congreu 
please ua all; we are glad that many delegates deliver apeechee, that there 
are conditions for the fulfillment of the aixth F°IVe-Year Plan for animal 
husbandry, not during the period of five years, but within two to three 
yean. We are certain that the commitments of the new Five-Year Plan 
will be accompliahed 1ucceufully. (Prolonged applause.) 

Comrades! If we sharply criticize today the cult of the individual which 
wu 10 widespread during Stalin's life and if we speak about the many 
negative phenomena generated by this cult which ia ao alien to the 1pirit 
of Marxism-Leninism,~. m,y ..uk:...lwf .cmtld.~ Stalin 
headed the party and ilie country for 30 years and many victories were 
gained during bis lifetime. Can we deny this? In my opinion, the question 
can be uked in this manner only by thoae who are blinded and hopeleuly 
hypnotized by the cult of the individual, only by thoae who do not under­
stand the essence of the revolution and of the Soviet state, only by thoae 
who do not understand, in a Leninist manner, the role of the party and of 
the nation in the development of the Soviet society. 

The Socialist Revolution was attained by the working class and by the 
poor peasantry with the partial support of middle-class peasants. It was 
attained by the people under the leadership of the Bolshevik Party. Lenin's 
great service consisted of the fact that he created a militant party of the 
working claaa, but he was armed with Marxist understanding of the lawa 
of social development and with the science of proletarian victory in the 
fight with capitalism, and he steeled this party in the crucible of revolutionary 
struggle of the masses of the people. 

Doring this fight the party consistently defended the interests of the 
people, became its experienced leader, and led the working masses to power, to 
the creation of the first socialist state. You remember well the wiae words 
of Lenin that the Soviet state is strong because of the awar~ess of the 
masses that history ia created by the millions and tens of millions of people. 

Our historical victories were attained thanb to the organizational work 
of the party, to the many provincial organizations, and to the self-sacri­
ficing work of our great nation. These victories are the result of the great 
drive and activity of the nation and of the party as a whole; they are not 
at all the fruit of the leadership of Stalin, as the situation was pictured during 
the period of the cult of the individual 

If we are to consider this matter as Marxists and as u:nioieta, then we 
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have to state unequivocally that the leadenhip practice which came into being 
during the last years of Stalin's life became .!. serious ob11tacle in the _path 
o Soviet social develo ment. Stalin often failed for months to take up some 
unuau y important proLlems, concerning the life of the party and of the 
state, whose solution could not be postponed. During Stalin's leadership 
our peaceful relations with other nations were often threatened, because one­
man decisions could cause, and often did cause, great complications. 81 

In the last yean, when we managed to free ourselves of the harmful 
practice of the cult of the individual and took several proper steps in the 
sphere of mternal and external policies, everyone saw bow activity grew 
before their very eyes, how the creative activity of the broad working 
masses developed, how favorably all this acted upon the development of 
economy and of culture. (Applause.) 

Some comrades may ask us: Where were the members of the Political 
Bureau of the Central Committee? Wh:y did they not assert themselves 
apiust, the cult of the individual in time? And why 1; this I>eing done unly 
now? 

First of all, we have to consider the fact that the members of the Political 
Biirmi vjewed these matters in a different way at di.fl~ .times. Initially, 
many ol them ~acked Stalin actively because Stalin was one of the strongest 
Marxists and his lo,gjc, his strength and his will greatly influenced the cadres 
and party work. - -

It is known that StalinL after Lenin's Jleath, especially during the first 
years, actively fought for umimsm against the enemies of Leninist theory 
and against those who deviated. Beginning with Leninist theory, the party, 
with its Central Committee at the head, started on a great scale the work of 
socialist industrialization of the country, agricultural collectivization and 
the cultural revolution. 

At that time Stalin gained _great ulari.ty, sympathy and support. The 
party had to fight those who attempt to lead the country away from the 
correct Leninist path; it had to fight Trotskyites, Zinovievites and rightists, 
and the bourgeois nationalists. This fight was indispensable. 

_!.ater3 however, Stalin, abusing his power more and more, began to fight 
eminent party and Government leaders and to use terroristic methods against 
honest Soviet people. As we have already shown, Stalin thus handled such 
eminent party and Government leaders as Kosaior, Rudzutak, Eikhe, Poety• 
shev and many others. 

Attempts to oppose groundless suspicions and charges esulted in the 
.,-, opponent falling victim of the r~~on. This characterized the fall of 

Comrade Postyshev. 
In one of his speeches Stalin expressed his dissatisfaction with Postyshev 

and asked him, "What are you actually?" 

62. Thi11 remark about the "great romplication11" which Stalin caueed 
to ••our peaceFul relations with other natiOIU" i11 the only place in the 
Khrwhchev text where he expre111a him11elr unFavorably about Stalin's 
Foreign policy after the war. 

HO 

Poatyahe¥ answered clearly, .. I am a Bollhevik, Comrade Stalin, a Bol• 
lhmk." 

Thia assertion was at first considered to show a lack of respect for Stalin; 
later it was considered a harmful act and consequently resulted in Postyahev'1 
annihilation and branding without any reason as a "people's enemy."• 

In the situation which then prevailed I have talked often with Nikolai 
Alexandrovich Bulganin; once when we two were traveling in a car, he 
said, "It has happened sometimes that a man goes to Stalin on hi.a invitation 
as a friend. And, wh he sits with Stalin1 he does not know where he will 
be sent next-home or tg iail," 

t a c ear t'bat such conditions put every member of the Political Bureau 
in a very difficult situation. And, when we also consider the fact that in , ... 

e ast years the Central Committee plenary sessions were not convened"' 
and that the aessions of the Political Bureau occurred only occasionally, from 
time to time, then we will understand how difficult it was for any member 
of the Political Bureau to take a stand against one or another unjust or 
improper procedure, against serious errors and shortcomings in the prac• 
ticea of leadership. 

As we have already shown, many decisions were taken either by one 
pereon or in a roundabout way, without collective discussion. The sad fate 
of Political Bureau member Comrade Voznesensky, who fell victim to 
Stalin's repressions, is known to all. It is a characteristic thing that the 
decision to remove him from the Political Bureau was never discu55ed 
but was reached in a devious fashion. In the same way came the decision 
concerning the removal of Kuznetsov and Rodionov from their posts.15 

63. In the literature on the subject, there h1111 already been some di1pule 
BIi to exactly how P. P. P01ty11hev conducted him11elr at the February-March 
1937 plenum (e/. the booklet by Hryhori Kostiuk, Tia. Fall of Pa.11•lun,, 
Research Procram on the USSR, New York, 1954, and my anal:,11l1 of It. 
"From the History or the Yeshm,,hchina: The Fall or P01t:,shev," Socialiu 
Coarler, New York, is1ue No. 12 for 1954, pp. 237-40). The quotation 
From P011ty1hev'11 speech given above by Khrushchev (e/. note 18), and 
P01ty11hev'11 reply to Stalin which he now cites, show that P011ty11hn opposed 
Stalin to the very end or the plenum. 

64, The la1t officially announced Central Commillee plenum in Stalin's 
uretime WBII that or February 1947, which heard A. A. Andreyn'• report 
on agriculture. It 111 clear From the biographical note on Nikolai A. Bul­
ganin in the 11eC011d edition or the Crear Sm,iel Encyclopedia that another 
plenum took place In February 1948, but no official announcement or It hu 
ever appeared in the press. 

65. The di11Bppearance or VOU1esen11k1, KuznelllOv and Rodionov occm-red 
in March-April 1949; hence, the termination or the normal Functioning or 
the Politburo 1hould be fixed al that time. According to information from 
other sourCfll, the virtually complete dissolution of the Politburo took place 
in Mal't'h-April 1951 and repreM!nled the punishment which Stalin Im• 
poeed BIi a result or the Failure or Khru11hchev'11 11eheme11 For amalgamation 
or the lcollchosa and creation or so-called "apo-citlea." Khrwhchn throW8 
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The importance of the Central Committee's Political Bureau was reduced 
and its work was disorganized by the creation within the Political Bureau 
of various commission&--the so-called "quintets," "sextets," "septets" and 
"novenaries." Here is, for instance, a resolution of the Political Bureau of 
October 3, 1946: 

"Stalin's Proposal: 
"l. The .f!>litical Bureau Commissio11 fo foreign Affairs ('Sextet') 16 

is to concern itself in the future, in addition to forei; affairs, also with 
matters of internal construction and domestic policy. 

"2. The Sextet is to add to its roster the Chairman of the State Commis­
sion of Economic Planning of the USSR, Comrade Voznesensky, and 
is to be known as a Septet. 

"Signed: Secretary of the Central Committee, J. Stalin." 
What a terminology of a card player! (Laughter in the ball.) It is clear 

that the creation within the Political Bureau of this type of commissio~ 
"quintets," "sextets," "septets" and "novenaries"-was against the principle 
of collective leadership. The result of this was that some members of the 
Political Bureau were in this way kept away from participation in reaching 
the most important state matters. • 

One of the oldest members of our party, Klimenti Yefremovich Voroshilov, 
found himself in an almost impossible situation. For several years he was 
actually deprived of the right of participation in Political Bureau sessions. 
Stalin forbade him to attend the Political Bureau sessions and to receive 
documents. When the Political Bureau was in session and Comrade Voroshilov 
heard about it, he telephoned each time and asked whether he would be 
allowed to attend. Sometimes Stalin permitted it, but always showed his 
disaatisfaction. 

Because of his extreme suspicion, Stalin toyed also with the absurd and 
ridiculous suspicion that Voroshilov was an English agent. (Laughter in 

no light whatever on the struggle over this iseue, although it played a 
great role in the destinies or the regime in the last three or four :,ean or 
Stalin's life. 

66. Thia proposal b:, Stalin, unquestionably adopted b:, the Polilhuro, 
is the first documentary proof or the correctness of earlier reports of lhe 
existence or a 1pec:ial committee or the Politburo which constituted the 
regime's 1upreme bod:, in matten or foreign policy. The make-up or this 
committee is unknown. but, aside Crom Stalin, it mllllt have included 
Molotov ~no~eria and Mik~ . Whether Malenkov wa1 a member 
is not dear: Oct r 1946 was a period or sharp decline in hi1 influence 
(at that lime. he wa, removed as a eeeretar:, or the Central Com.mince) ; 
:,et, he not only remained a Polilhuro member but was immediately dea­
ignated Stalin's deputy in the Council or Mini11ten. In an:, CYent, Vozneaen-
11k:,'11 inrl1111ion in the rommittf'.e gave it a pro-Zhdanov majority, and the 
inrorporution in its sphere or rompetenre or questions or "intemal con-
11truc:tion and domestic: policy" virtually transformed it into an organ re­
placins the Polilhuro. 
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intereet of the laboring people, of the interest of the victory of eocialiam and 
communiem. We cannot say that these were the deeds of a giddy despot. He 
considered that this should be done in the interest of the party, of the work­
ing maesee, in the name of the defense of the revolution's gains. In this lies 
the whole tragedy! 

Comrades! Lenin had often stressed that modeety ie an absolutely integral 
part of a real Bolshevik. Lenin himself was the living personification of the 
greatest modesty. We cannot say that we have been following this Leninist 
example in all respects. 

It ie enough to point out that many towns, factories and industrial enter• 
prises, kolklwzes and &ovkhoze&, Soviet institutions and cultural institutions 
have been referred to by us with a title-if I may express it eo-of private 
property of the names of these or those Government or party leaders who were 
still active and in good health. Many of us participated in the action of usign­
ing our names to various towns, rayo1&8, enterprises and kolkhoze1. We must 
correct this. (Applause.) 

But this should be done calmly and slowly. The Central Committee will dis­
cuss this matter and consider it carefully in order to prevent errors and 
excesses. I can remember how the Ukraine learned about Kouior'e arrest. The 
Kiev radio used to start its programs thus: "Thie is Radio (in the name of) 
Kouior." When one day the programs began without naming Kouior, every­
one was quite certain that something had happened to Ko88ior, that he prob­
ably had been arrested. 

Thua, if today we be~n to remove the signs everywhere and to change 
names, people will think that these comrades in whose honor the given enter­
prises, kolkhozes or cities are named also met some bad fate and that they have 
aleo been arrested. (Animation in the hall.) 

Howie the authority and the importance of this or that leader judged? On 
the basis of how many towns, industrial enterprises and factories, kolkhoze& 
and 1ovkhoze1 carry hie name. Is it not about ti.me that we eliminate this 
''private property" and "nationalize" the factories, the industrial enterprises, 
the kolkhoze& and the 1ovkhoze1? (Laughter, applause, voices: "That ie 
righL") This will benefit our cause. After aH, the cult of the individual is 
manifested a1eo in this way. 

We should, in all eeriousness, consider the question of the cult of the indi­
vidual. We cannot let this matter ,;et out of the party"' es_iieciaTiy not lo the 
,f!e88-If 18 £or ffiis reason tliat we are con81aering it here at a closed Con e88 

session. We should know the limits; we should not .&i.Y.e. amunmition to the 
enemy; we should not wash our dirty linen before their ~es. I think that the 
aelegltes to the Congress w1 un erstand and assess properly all these 
proposals. (Tumultuous applause.) 

Comrades! We must abolish the cult of the individual decisively, once and 
for all; we must draw the proper concll18ions concerning both ideological­
theoretical and practical work. It is necessary for this purpose: 

Fint, in a Bolshevik manner to condemn and to eradicate the cult of the 
individual as alien to Marxism-Leninism A.Dd not consonant with the principles 
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Lenin·s Testament 
About a yeu before hie death, Lenin dictated bia famoua '"Testament," 

a confidential letter siTIDC hia eatimate of hla Commanlat lieutenants. The 
letter wH known in hip party cirdea, but kept from the outaide world 
until Leon Trobky "leaked" a copy of il to the American jonmali1t Max 
EUlman, who on October 18, 1926, had il publi1hed in the N- Yorlc Ti-. 
Stalin recopized the authentic:ily of the doc:ument in intra-party diaeua­
lion1 in 1927, declarin11 

"It ia uid that in the 'Teetament' in queation Lenin auggeated to lhe Party 
Conpe89 that it mould deliberate on the queation of replacinc Stalin and 
appointin1 another comrade in hl1 place a1 General Secretary of the party, 
Thia i8 perfeetly trae." 

Thereafter, however, the document was top aecret as far a■ Soviet citisens 
were eoncemed until Khnuhchev'• references to it at the 20th Congreu. 
While Khnuhchev quoted Lenin', critic:i1n11 of Stalin, he did not publidy 
refer to the Teaaa-t'• praise of Bukharin and other leaden later purged 
by Stalin. The full document follows: 

BY THE stability of the Central Committee, of which I spoke before, I mean 
measures tp prevent a sRlu, so far as such measures can be taken. For, 

of course, the White Guard in Rwakaya Myal (I think it was S. E. Oldenburg) 
was right when, in the first place, in his play against Soviet Russia he banked 
on the hope of a split in our party, and when, in the second place, he banked 
for that eplit on serious disagreement& in our party. 

Our party rests upon two ~. and for that reason its instability .is 
possible, and if iliere cannot exist an a_greement between those classes its 

fall is inevitable. In such an event it would 6e useless to take any measures 
or in general to discll88 the stability of our Central Committee. In such an 
event no measures would prove capable of preventing a spliL But I trust 
that is too remote a future, and too improbable an event, to talk abouL 

I have in mind stability as a guarantee against a split in the near future, 
and I intended to examine here a series of considerations of a purely nonal 
character. 

I think that the fundamental factor in the matter of stability-from this 
point of view-is such m~u of the Central Q>mmitle6 as Stalin and 
Tr~. The relation '&tween them constitutes, in my opinion, a big half of 
tliedanger of that split, which might be avoided, and the avoidance of which 
might be promoted, in my opinion, by raising the number qf ~ero_bem. oi Jhe 
Central Committee to fifty or one bundred. 

Comrade Stali!i, having become General Secretary, haa concentrated an 
enormous power in his hllll.ds; and I am not sure that he alwan b.owa how 
fo use that power with sufficent caution. On the other band, Comrade Trotsk_y:, 
aa waa proved by his struggle against the Central Committee in connection 
with the question of the People's Cornrnissariat of Ways and Communications, 

r 

is distinguished not only by his exceptional abihtles--personally he is, to be 
sure, the most able man in the present Central Committ~but also by his too 
far-reaclung_ self-confidence and a disposition to be too much attracted by 
tfie purely administrative side of affairs. 

These two qualities of the two most able leaders of the present Central Com­
mittee might, quite innocently, lead to a split; if our party does not take 
measures to prevent it, a split might arise unexpectedly. 

I will not further characterize the other members of the Central Committee 
as to their personal qualities. I will only remind you that the October episode 
of Zinoviev and Kamenev was not, of course, accidental, but that it ou_ght 
as little to be used against them personally as the non-Bolshevism of Trotsky. 

Of the younger members of the Central Committee, I want to say a few 
words about Bukharin and P_y~takov. They are in my opinion, the most able 
forces (among the youngest) and in r~ard to them it is necessary to bear 
in mind the following: Bukharin is not only the most valuable and biggest 
theoretician of the party, but also may legitimately be considered the favorite 
of tne whole party; but his theoretical views can only with the very greatest 
doubt be regarded as fully a~ist, for there is something _scholastic in him 
(he never has learned, and I think never has fully understood, the dialectic). 

And then P akov-a man undoubtedly distinguished in will and ability, 
but too much given over to administration and the administrative side of 
things to be relied on in a serious political question. 

Of course, both these remarks are made by me merely with a view to the 
present time, or supposing that these two able and loyal workers may not 
find an occasion to supplement their knowledge and correct their one-sidedness. 
December 25, 1922 

Postscript: Stalin is too rude, and this fault, entirely supportable in rela­
tions among us Communists, becomes insupportable in the office of General 
Secretary. Therefore, I propose to the comrades to find a way to remove 
Stalin from that position and appoint to it another man who in all respects 
differs from Stalin only in superiority-namely, more patient, more loyal, 
more polite and more attentive to comrades, less capricious, etc. This circum­
stance may seem an insignificant trifle, but I think that from the point of view 
of preventing a split and from the point of view of the relation between Stalin 
and Trotsky which I discussed above, it is not a trifle, or it is such a trifle as 
may acquire a decisive significance. 
January 4, 1923 LENIN 

Arendt DK268.S8 K453 1962 
Khrushchev, Nikita 
Sergeevich, 1894-1971 . 
The crimes of the Stalin 
era; special report to the 
20th congress of the 
Communist Party of the 
e - • ~ - ~ I 1- : - -

567 


	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_Cover_001
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page4&5_002
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page10&11_003
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page12&13_004
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page14_005
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page16&17_006
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page18&19_007
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page20&21_008
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page23_009
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page24&25_010
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page26&27_011
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page28&29_012
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page30&31_013
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page36&37_015
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page38&39_016
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page40&41_017
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page42&43_018
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page44&45_019
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page46&47_020
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page48&49_021
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page50_022
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page53_023
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page59_024
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page60&61_025
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page62_026
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page64_027
	bc_Arendt_ Khrushchev_ThecrimesoftheStalin_page64&67_028



